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PETRONAS DAGANGAN BERHAD
 (Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of 
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company in the course of the financial year remained unchanged as domestic 
marketing of petroleum products.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are stated in Note 31, Note 32 and 
Note 33 to the financial statements respectively. 

ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The holding and ultimate holding company is Petroliam Nasional Berhad (“PETRONAS”), a company 
incorporated in Malaysia. The Company is wholly-owned by the Government of Malaysia. 

SUBSIDIARIES 

The details of the Company’s subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 31 to the financial statements.

RESULTS
In RM'000 Group Company

Profit for the year  272,414  393,001 

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company  275,964  393,001 
Non-controlling interests  (3,550)  — 

 272,414  393,001 
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DIVIDENDS

During the financial year, the amount of dividends paid by the Company were as follows:

a) In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2019 as reported in the Directors’ Report of that year:

i. an interim dividend of 25.0 sen per ordinary share amounting to RM248,363,500 and a special 
dividend of 15.0 sen per ordinary share amounting to RM149,018,100 declared on 25 February 2020 
and paid on 26 March 2020; and

b) In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2020 as reported in the Directors’ Report of that year:

i. an interim dividend of 5.0 sen per ordinary share amounting to RM49,672,700 declared on 18 May 
2020 and paid on 17 June 2020;

ii. an interim dividend of 5.0 sen per ordinary share amounting to RM49,672,700 declared on 25 August 
2020 and paid on 24 September 2020; and

iii. an interim dividend of 11.0 sen per ordinary share amounting to RM109,279,940 declared on 17 
November 2020 and paid on 16 December 2020.

The Directors have on 19 February 2021 declared an interim dividend of 17.0 sen per ordinary share 
amounting to RM168,887,180 in respect of the financial year ended  31 December 2020.

The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this declared interim dividend. The 
dividend will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation of retained profits in the financial year ending 
31 December 2021.

Further details on dividends are disclosed in Note 23.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

There were no material movements to or from reserves and provisions during the year other than as disclosed 
in the financial statements. 

DIRECTORS

Directors who served during the financial year until the date of this report are:

Datuk Md Arif bin Mahmood (Chairman)
Azrul bin Osman Rani (appointed on 1 January 2020)
Lim Beng Choon
Datuk Anuar bin Ahmad
Nuraini binti Ismail
Shafie bin Shamsuddin
Alvin Michael Hew Thai Kheam
Nirmala a/p Doraisamy
Tang Saw Hua (appointed on 1 July 2020)
Ahmad Adly bin Alias (appointed on 25 August 2020)
Vimala a/p V.R. Menon (retired on 17 November 2020)
Dato’ Sri Syed Zainal Abidin bin Syed Mohamed Tahir (retired on 10 June 2020)
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DIRECTORS (continued)

In accordance with Article 107 of the Company’s Constitution, Datuk Md Arif bin Mahmood, Datuk Anuar 
bin Ahmad and Nuraini binti Ismail are due for retirement by rotation at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) of the Company. Datuk Md Arif bin Mahmood, Datuk Anuar bin Ahmad and Nuraini binti 
Ismail, being eligible for re-election have given their consent for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

In accordance with Article 100 of the Company’s Constitution, Tang Saw Hua and Ahmad Adly bin Alias, 
who were appointed as Directors during the year shall hold office until the conclusion of the forthcoming 
AGM, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. 

The Company has been granted a relief order pursuant to Section 255(1) of the Companies Act, 2016 relieving 
the Company’s Directors from full compliance to the requirements under Section 253(2) of the Companies 
Act, 2016.

The names of Directors of subsidiaries are available on the Company’s corporate website and the Board 
deems such information is included in the Company’s Directors’ Report by such reference and shall form part 
of the Company’s Directors’ Report. 

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS 

The Directors in office at the end of the year who have interests and deemed interests in the shares of the 
Company and of its related corporations other than wholly-owned subsidiaries (including the interests of the 
spouses and/or children of the Directors who themselves are not Directors of the Company) as recorded in the 
Register of Directors’ Shareholdings are as follows:

Number of ordinary shares in
PETRONAS Chemicals Group Berhad

Name

Balance at 
1.1.2020 / 

Date of 
appointment Bought Sold

Balance at 
31.12.2020

Datuk Md Arif bin Mahmood - own 20,000  —  — 20,000
Datuk Md Arif bin Mahmood - child  —  300  (300)  — 
Azrul bin Osman Rani - spouse  1,000  —  —  1,000 
Nuraini binti Ismail 10,000  —  — 10,000
Ahmad Adly bin Alias 6,000  —  — 6,000

Number of ordinary shares in
PETRONAS Gas Berhad

Name
Balance at 

1.1.2020 Bought Sold
Balance at 
31.12.2020

Nuraini binti Ismail  5,000  —  —  5,000 

None of the other Directors holding office at 31 December 2020 had any interest in the ordinary shares of the 
Company and of its related corporations during the financial year.
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DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received nor become entitled to 
receive any benefit (other than the benefit included in the aggregate amount of remuneration received or due 
and receivable by Directors as shown in Note 24 to the financial statements or the fixed salary of a full time 
employee of the Company or of related corporations), by reason of a contract made by the Company or a 
related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in 
which the Director has a substantial financial interest.

There were no arrangements during and at the end of the financial year which had the object of enabling 
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the 
Company or any other body corporate. 

ISSUE OF SHARES

There were no changes in the issued and paid up capital of the Company during the financial year.

OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES 

No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial year.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE COSTS

During the financial year, Petroliam Nasional Berhad (“PETRONAS”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter 
referred to as “PETRONAS Group”), including the Company, maintained a Directors’ and Officers’ Liability 
Insurance in accordance with Section 289 of the Companies Act, 2016. The total insured limit for the 
Directors and Officers Liability Insurance effected for the Directors and Officers of PETRONAS Group was 
RM1,290 million (2019: RM1,290 million) per occurrence and in the aggregate. The insurance premium for 
the Group and the Company is RM112,300 (2019: RM112,300) and RM108,300 (2019: RM108,300) 
respectively.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the Directors took 
reasonable steps to ascertain:
        
(i) that necessary actions had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the provisioning of 

doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts have been written off and adequate 
provision made for doubtful debts, and

(ii) that any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business, their values 
as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the Company, had been written down to an 
amount which they might be expected so to realise.
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OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION (continued)

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

(i) that would render the amount written off for bad debts, or the amount of the provision for doubtful 
debts, in the Group and in the Company inadequate to any substantial extent, or

(ii) that would render the value attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and 
of the Company misleading, or         

(iii) which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of 
the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate, or         

(iv) not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements, that would render any amount stated in 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

At the date of this report, there does not exist:
   
(i) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial 

year and which secures the liabilities of any other person, or

(ii) any material contingent liability in respect of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end 
of the financial year.

No material contingent liability or other liability of any company in the Group has become enforceable, or is 
likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in 
the opinion of the Directors, will or may substantially affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to 
meet their obligations as and when they fall due. 

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial performance of the Group and of the Company for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2020 have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a 
material and unusual nature nor has any such item, transaction or event occurred in the interval between the 
end of that financial year and the date of this report. 

In respect of the Directors or past Directors of the Company:

(i) the amount of fees and other benefits paid to or receivable by them from the Company or its subsidiary 
companies as remuneration for their services to the Company or its subsidiary companies; and

(ii) the estimated money value of any other benefits received or receivable by them otherwise than in cash 
from the Company or from any of its subsidiaries.

are disclosed in Note 24 Related Parties Disclosures.

There are no amounts paid to or receivable by any third party in respect of the services provided to the 
Company or any of its subsidiary companies by any Director or past Director of the Company.
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PETRONAS DAGANGAN BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

In RM'000 Note  2020  2019 

ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 3  4,067,023  4,134,901 
Investments in associates 5  1,665  1,456 
Investments in joint ventures 6  19,449  21,561 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  4,088,137  4,157,918 
Trade and other inventories 7  410,229  796,819 
Trade and other receivables 8  1,169,444  1,565,011 
Fund investment 9  —  51,004 
Cash and cash equivalents 10  2,691,820  3,425,500 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  4,271,493  5,838,334 
TOTAL ASSETS  8,359,630  9,996,252 

EQUITY
Share capital 11  993,454  993,454 
Reserves 12  4,650,291  4,982,490 
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Company  5,643,745  5,975,944 
Non-controlling interests 13  31,901  35,451 
TOTAL EQUITY  5,675,646  6,011,395 

LIABILITIES
Borrowings 14  96,778  168,653 
Deferred tax liabilities 15  104,609  100,318 
Other long term liabilities and provisions 16  30,328  28,473 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  231,715  297,444 
Trade and other payables 17  2,342,061  3,440,211 
Borrowings 14  81,392  165,502 
Taxation  28,816  81,700 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  2,452,269  3,687,413 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  2,683,984  3,984,857 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  8,359,630  9,996,252 

The notes set out on pages 23 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PETRONAS DAGANGAN BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

In RM'000 Note  2020  2019 

Revenue 18  18,710,947  30,293,571 
Cost of revenue  (16,439,243)  (27,079,646) 
Gross profit  2,271,704  3,213,925 
Selling and distribution expenses  (1,066,348)  (1,330,145) 
Administration expenses  (1,166,613)  (1,176,512) 
Other income  363,791  439,527 
Operating profit 19  402,534  1,146,795 
Financing costs 20  (16,035)  (21,812) 
Share of (loss)/profit after tax of equity accounted associates and 

joint ventures  (78)  3,889 
Profit before taxation  386,421  1,128,872 
Tax expense 21  (114,007)  (291,237) 
Profit for the year  272,414  837,635 
Other comprehensive loss
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to

 profit or loss
Exchange differences arising from translation of financial statements 

of foreign operations  (2,156)  (731) 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  270,258  836,904 

The notes set out on pages 23 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PETRONAS DAGANGAN BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
 (continued)

In RM'000 Note  2020  2019 

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company  275,964  829,535 
Non-controlling interests  (3,550)  8,100 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  272,414  837,635 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company  273,808  828,804 
Non-controlling interests  (3,550)  8,100 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  270,258  836,904 

Basic earnings per ordinary share 22 27.8 sen 83.5 sen

The notes set out on pages 23 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PETRONAS DAGANGAN BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Attributable to shareholders of the 
Company

Non-distributable

In RM'000 Note
Share

Capital

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Reserve

Capital
Reserves

Balance at 1 January 2020  993,454  (18,935)  (18,732) 
Exchange difference arising from 

translation of financial statements of 
foreign operations  —  (2,156)  — 

Total other comprehensive loss for the 
year  —  (2,156)  — 

Profit for the year  —  —  — 
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 

for the year  —  (2,156)  — 
Distribution to shareholders of the 

Company
Dividends to shareholders of the 

Company 23  —  —  — 
Total transactions with owners of the 

Company  —  —  — 
Balance at 31 December 2020  993,454  (21,091)  (18,732) 

Note 11 Note 12 Note 12
continue to next page

The notes set out on pages 23 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PETRONAS DAGANGAN BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

(continued)

Attributable to shareholders 
of the Company

Distributable

In RM'000 Note
Retained

Profits Total

Non-
controlling

Interests
Total

Equity

Balance at 1 January 2020  5,020,157  5,975,944  35,451  6,011,395 
Exchange difference arising from 

translation of financial statements of 
foreign operations  —  (2,156)  —  (2,156) 

Total other comprehensive loss for the 
year  —  (2,156)  —  (2,156) 

Profit for the year  275,964  275,964  (3,550)  272,414 
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 

for the year  275,964  273,808  (3,550)  270,258 
Distribution to shareholders of the 

Company
Dividends to shareholders of the 

Company 23  (606,007)  (606,007)  —  (606,007) 
Total transactions with owners of the 

Company  (606,007)  (606,007)  —  (606,007) 
Balance at 31 December 2020  4,690,114  5,643,745  31,901  5,675,646 

Note 13
continued from previous page

The notes set out on pages 23 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements
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PETRONAS DAGANGAN BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

(continued)
Attributable to shareholders of the 

Company
Non-distributable

In RM'000 Note
Share

Capital

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Reserve

Capital
Reserves

Balance at 1 January 2019  993,454  (18,204)  (18,732) 
Exchange difference arising from 

translation of financial statements of 
foreign operations  —  (731)  — 

Total other comprehensive loss for the 
year  —  (731)  — 

Profit for the year  —  —  — 
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 

for the year  —  (731)  — 
Distribution to shareholders of the 

Company
Dividends to shareholders of the 

Company 23  —  —  — 
Dividends to non-controlling interests  —  —  — 
Total transactions with owners of the 

Company  —  —  — 
Balance at 31 December 2019  993,454  (18,935)  (18,732) 

Note 11 Note 12 Note 12
continue to next page

The notes set out on pages 23 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements.

  Company No. 198201008499 (88222-D)

14



PETRONAS DAGANGAN BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

(continued)

Attributable to shareholders 
of the Company

Distributable

In RM'000 Note
Retained

Profits Total

Non-
controlling

Interests
Total

Equity

Balance at 1 January 2019  4,886,040  5,842,558  31,026  5,873,584 
Exchange difference arising from 

translation of financial statements of 
foreign operations  —  (731)  —  (731) 

Total other comprehensive loss for the 
year  —  (731)  —  (731) 

Profit for the year  829,535  829,535  8,100  837,635 
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 

for the year  829,535  828,804  8,100  836,904 
Distribution to shareholders of the 

Company
Dividends to shareholders of the 

Company 23  (695,418)  (695,418)  —  (695,418) 
Dividends to non-controlling interests  —  —  (3,675)  (3,675) 
Total transactions with owners of the 

Company  (695,418)  (695,418)  (3,675)  (699,093) 
Balance at 31 December 2019  5,020,157  5,975,944  35,451  6,011,395 

Note 13
continued from previous page

The notes set out on pages 23 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements
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PETRONAS DAGANGAN BERHAD
 (Incorporated in Malaysia)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

In RM'000 Note 2020 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation  386,421  1,128,872 
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation  497,839  471,457 
Net impairment losses/(write-back) on receivables  5,530  (478) 
Share of loss/(profit) after tax of equity accounted associates and 

joint ventures  78  (3,889) 
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  4,199  (18,727) 
Interest income  (71,270)  (121,997) 
Financing costs  16,035  21,812 
Inventories written off  37  471 
Net inventories (written-back)/written down to net realisable value  (302)  1,880 
Property, plant and equipment written off  1,393  9,778 
Property, plant and equipment expensed off  7,119  625 
Net unrealised foreign exchange gain  (2,255)  (399) 

Operating profit before changes in working capital  844,824  1,489,405 
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables  392,040  695,558 
Inventories  386,553  28,999 
Trade and other payables  (1,097,988)  463,300 
Cash generated from operations  525,429  2,677,262 
Taxation paid  (162,600)  (266,037) 

Net cash generated from operating activities  362,829  2,411,225 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest income  71,270  121,997 
Net withdrawal/(placement) of fund investment  51,004  (1,004) 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (443,231)  (460,142) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  1,565  31,271 

Net cash used in investing activities  (319,392)  (307,878) 
continue to next page

The notes set out on pages 23 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PETRONAS DAGANGAN BERHAD
 (Incorporated in Malaysia)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

(continued)

In RM'000 Note 2020 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid  (606,007)  (695,418) 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  —  (3,675) 
Net drawdown/(repayment) of revolving credits  4,114  (957) 
Repayment of Islamic financing facilities  (19,876)  (19,214) 
Repayment of lease liabilities  (141,163)  (124,426) 
Interest paid on revolving credits  (40)  (107) 
Profit margin paid for Islamic financing facilities  (788)  (1,841) 
Interest paid on lease liabilities  (14,047)  (18,930) 

Net cash used in financing activities 14  (777,807)  (864,568) 

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS  (734,370)  1,238,779 

NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES  690  (1,170) 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR  3,425,500  2,187,891 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

END OF THE YEAR  2,691,820  3,425,500 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash with PETRONAS Integrated Financial Shared Services Centre  2,467,302  3,221,696 
Cash and bank balances  135,264  50,279 
Deposits placed with licensed banks  68,485  153,525 
Restricted cash  20,769  — 

10  2,691,820  3,425,500 
continued from previous page

Total cash outflows for leases amounts to RM401,885,000 (2019: RM446,251,000) which comprise  
repayment and interest paid in relation to lease liabilities, short-term lease, low-value assets and variable lease 
payments.

The notes set out on pages 23 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PETRONAS DAGANGAN BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

In RM'000 Note 2020 2019

ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 3  3,781,623  3,836,914 
Investments in subsidiaries 4  173,010  60,010 
Investments in associates 5  530  530 
Investments in joint ventures 6  25  25 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  3,955,188  3,897,479 
Inventories 7  402,411  789,694 
Trade and other receivables 8  1,052,969  1,376,002 
Cash and cash equivalents 10  2,311,097  3,146,732 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  3,766,477  5,312,428 
TOTAL ASSETS  7,721,665  9,209,907 

EQUITY
Share capital 11  993,454  993,454 
Reserves 12  4,358,551  4,571,557 

TOTAL EQUITY  5,352,005  5,565,011 

LIABILITIES
Borrowings 14  21,717  82,291 
Deferred tax liabilities 15  81,761  76,350 
Other long term liabilities and provisions 16  29,495  27,680 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  132,973  186,321 
Trade and other payables 17  2,152,887  3,245,170 
Borrowings 14  60,302  138,406 
Taxation  23,498  74,999 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  2,236,687  3,458,575 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  2,369,660  3,644,896 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  7,721,665  9,209,907 

The notes set out on pages 23 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PETRONAS DAGANGAN BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

In RM'000 Note  2020  2019 

Revenue 18  18,254,411  29,726,075 
Cost of revenue  (16,088,620)  (26,666,919) 
Gross profit  2,165,791  3,059,156 
Selling and distribution expenses  (1,042,173)  (1,303,382) 
Administration expenses  (1,098,125)  (1,097,656) 
Other income  479,534  440,307 
Operating profit 19  505,027  1,098,425 
Financing costs 20  (8,698)  (13,430) 
Profit before taxation  496,329  1,084,995 
Tax expense 21  (103,328)  (272,280) 
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REPRESENTING TOTAL 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  393,001  812,715 

The notes set out on pages 23 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PETRONAS DAGANGAN BERHAD
 (Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Attributable to shareholders of the Company
Non-

distributable Distributable

In RM'000 Note
Share

Capital
Retained

Profits
Total

Equity

Balance at 1 January 2020  993,454  4,571,557  5,565,011 
Profit for the year representing total 

comprehensive income for the year  —  393,001  393,001 
Dividends paid 23  —  (606,007)  (606,007) 
Balance at 31 December 2020  993,454  4,358,551  5,352,005 

Balance at 1 January 2019  993,454  4,454,260  5,447,714 
Profit for the year representing total 

comprehensive income for the year  —  812,715  812,715 
Dividends paid 23  —  (695,418)  (695,418) 
Balance at 31 December 2019  993,454  4,571,557  5,565,011 

Note 11

The notes set out on pages 23 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PETRONAS DAGANGAN BERHAD
 (Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

In RM'000 Note 2020 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation  496,329  1,084,995 
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation  454,581  434,629 
Net impairment losses/(write-back) on receivables  2,532  (355) 
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  4,175  (18,727) 
Interest income  (66,009)  (113,133) 
Dividend income  (121,770)  (9,455) 
Property, plant and equipment written off  1,299  9,778 
Property, plant and equipment expensed off  7,075  439 
Net unrealised foreign exchange gain  (2,272)  (411) 
Inventories written off  —  390 
Inventories written down to net realisable value  4,088  — 
Financing costs  8,698  13,430 

Operating profit before changes in working capital  788,726  1,401,580 
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables  322,690  685,660 
Inventories  387,283  21,203 
Trade and other payables  (1,095,632)  387,159 
Cash generated from operations  403,067  2,495,602 
Taxation paid  (149,418)  (248,496) 

Net cash generated from operating activities  253,649  2,247,106 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Dividends received  121,770  9,455 
Interest income  66,009  113,133 
Investment in subsidiary  (113,000)  (31,000) 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (411,561)  (360,858) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  599  31,111 

Net cash used in investing activities  (336,183)  (238,159) 
continue to next page

The notes set out on pages 23 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PETRONAS DAGANGAN BERHAD
 (Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

(continued)

In RM'000 Note 2020 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid 23  (606,007)  (695,418) 
Repayment of lease liabilities  (139,556)  (123,367) 
Interest paid on lease liabilities  (7,538)  (12,496) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (753,101)  (831,281) 

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS  (835,635)  1,177,666 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR  3,146,732  1,969,066 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF THE YEAR 10  2,311,097  3,146,732 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash with PETRONAS Integrated Financial Shared Services Centre  2,273,559  3,111,722 
Cash and bank balances  37,538  35,010 

10  2,311,097  3,146,732 
continued from previous page

Total cash outflows for leases amounts to RM393,228,000 (2019: RM438,662,000) which comprise  
repayment and interest paid in relation to lease liabilities, short-term lease, low-value assets and variable lease 
payments.

The notes set out on pages 23 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PETRONAS DAGANGAN BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2020

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION

1.1 Statement of compliance  
       

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia.

These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing 
Requirements of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

As of 1 January 2020, the Group and the Company had adopted amendments to MFRSs 
(“pronouncements”) that have been issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) as 
described fully in Note 34.

MASB has also issued revised pronouncements which are not yet effective for the Group and the Company 
and therefore, have not been adopted in these financial statements. These pronouncements are set out in 
Note 35. New and revised pronouncements that are not relevant to the operations of the Group and of the 
Company are set out in Note 36.

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 19 February 
2021.

1.2 Basis of measurement

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared on historical cost basis 
except for certain items are measured at fair value, as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

1.3 Functional and presentation currency

The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are prepared using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”).  The Group’s and 
the Company’s financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is the Company’s 
functional currency.

All financial information is presented in Ringgit Malaysia and has been rounded to the nearest thousands, 
unless otherwise stated.
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

1.4 Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRS requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in 
applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements are described in the following Notes:-

(i) Note 3  : Property, plant and equipment; 
(ii) Note 14 : Borrowings;
(iii) Note 15 : Deferred tax;
(iv) Note 21 : Tax expense; and
(v) Note 28 :  Financial instruments.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
financial statements and have been applied consistently by the Group and the Company, unless otherwise 
stated.

2.1  Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or 
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. Potential voting rights are considered when assessing control only when 
such rights are substantive. The Group considers it has de facto power over an investee when, despite not 
having the majority of voting rights, it has the current ability to direct the activities of the investee that 
significantly affect the investee’s return.

Investments in subsidiaries are measured in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less any 
impairment losses, unless the investment is classified as held for sale or distribution. The cost of investment 
includes transaction costs.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1  Basis of consolidation (continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group 
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

All inter-company transactions are eliminated on consolidation and revenue and profits relate to external 
transactions only. Unrealised losses resulting from inter-company transactions are also eliminated unless 
cost cannot be recovered.

Business combinations

A business combination is a transaction or other event in which an acquirer obtains control of one or more 
businesses. Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method from the acquisition date, 
which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The cost of an acquisition is measured as 
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred and the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree. Non-controlling interests are stated either at fair value or at the proportionate share 
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the acquisition date. 

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group remeasures its previously held non-
controlling equity interest in the acquiree at fair value at the acquisition date, with any resulting gain or loss 
recognised in the profit or loss. Increase in the Group’s ownership interest in an existing subsidiary is 
accounted for as equity transactions with differences between the fair value of consideration paid and the 
Group’s proportionate share of net assets acquired, recognised directly in equity.

The Group measures goodwill as the excess of the cost of an acquisition and the fair values of any 
previously held interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed at the acquisition date. When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issuance of debt or equity securities, that the Group 
incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1  Basis of consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests at the end of the reporting period, being the portion of the net assets of subsidiaries 
attributable to equity interests that are not owned by the Company, whether directly or indirectly through 
subsidiaries, are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position and statement of changes in 
equity within equity, separately from equity attributable to the shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the profit or loss and total comprehensive income for 
the year between the non-controlling interests and shareholders of the Company.

Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling 
interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance. 

The Group treats all changes in its ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control as 
equity transactions between the Group and its non-controlling interest holders. Any difference between the 
Group’s share of net assets before and after the change, and any consideration received or paid, is adjusted 
to or against Group reserves.

Loss of control 

Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the former 
subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the former subsidiary 
from the consolidated statement of financial position. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is 
recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is 
measured at fair value at the date that control is lost, it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as 
a fair value through other comprehensive income financial asset depending on the level of influence 
retained.

2.2 Associates

Associates are entities in which the Group has significant influence including representation on the Board of 
Directors, but not control or joint control, over the financial and operating policies of the investee company.

Associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method less any 
impairment losses, unless it is classified as held for sale or distribution. The consolidated financial 
statements include the Group’s share of post-acquisition profits or losses and other comprehensive income 
of the equity-accounted associates, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the 
Group, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (continued)

2.2 Associates (continued)

The Group’s share of post-acquisition reserves and retained profits less losses is added to the carrying value 
of the investment in the consolidated statement of financial position. These amounts are taken from the 
latest audited financial statements or management financial statements of the associates.

When the Group’s share of post-acquisition losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted associate, the 
carrying amount of that interest (including any long-term investments such as loans and advances) is 
reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an 
obligation or has made payments on behalf of the associate.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of 
the entire interest in that associate, with the resulting gain or loss being recognised in the profit or loss. Any 
retained interest in the former associate at the date when significant influence is lost is measured at fair 
value and this amount is regarded as the initial carrying amount of a financial asset.

When the Group’s interest in an associate decreases but does not result in loss of significant influence, any 
retained interest is not re-measured. Any gain or loss arising from the decrease in interest is recognised in 
profit or loss. Any gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are also reclassified 
proportionately to the profit or loss if that gain or loss would be required to be reclassified to profit or loss 
on the disposal of the related assets and liabilities. 

Unrealised profits arising from transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent 
of the Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses on such transactions are also eliminated 
partially, unless cost cannot be recovered.

2.3 Joint arrangements

Joint arrangements are arrangements of which the Group has joint control, established by contracts requiring 
unanimous consent for decisions about the activities that significantly affect the arrangements’ returns.

Joint arrangements are classified as either joint operation or joint venture. A joint arrangement is classified 
as joint operation when the Group or the Company has rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities 
relating to an arrangement. The Group and the Company account for each of its share of the assets, 
liabilities and transactions, including its share of those held or incurred jointly with the other investors, in 
relation to the joint operation. A joint arrangement is classified as joint venture when the Group has rights 
only to the net assets of the arrangements. The Group accounts for its interest in the joint venture using the 
equity method as described in Note 2.2.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (continued)

2.4 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Recognition and measurement

Freehold land and projects-in-progress are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses and are not 
depreciated. Other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets and any other costs 
directly attributable to bringing the assets to working condition for their intended use, and the costs of 
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. The cost of self-
constructed assets also includes the cost of material and direct labour. For qualifying assets, borrowing costs 
are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy on borrowing costs. Purchased software that is 
integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

When significant components of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they 
are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will 
flow to the Group or the Company and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 
replaced item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised with any corresponding gain or loss 
recognised in the profit or loss accordingly. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and 
equipment are recognised in the profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation for property, plant and equipment other than freehold land and projects-in-progress, is 
recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of 
an item of property, plant and equipment. Property, plant and equipment are not depreciated until the assets 
are ready for their intended use.

Buildings are depreciated over 20 to 30 years or over the remaining land lease year, whichever is shorter.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation (continued)

The estimated useful lives of the other property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Plant, machinery, tankage and pipeline 6 - 20 years
Office equipment, furniture and fittings  3 - 7 years
Computer software and hardware 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 - 10 years

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement 
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term.

The depreciable amount is determined after deducting residual value. The residual value, useful life and 
depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year end to ensure that the amount, period and method of 
depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future 
economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.

Derecognition

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and 
the net carrying amount is recognised in the profit or loss.

2.5 Leases

(i) Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for a consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group and the Company assess whether:

• the contract involves the use of an identified asset – this may be specified explicitly or implicitly 
and should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically 
distinct asset. If the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified;

• the customer has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset 
throughout the period of use; and

• the customer has the right to direct the use of the asset when it has the decision-making rights that 
are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. The customer has the 
right to direct the use of the asset if either the customer has the right to operate the asset; or the 
customer designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be used 
throughout the period of use.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Leases (continued)

(i) Definition of a lease (continued)

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group and the 
Company allocate the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease component on the 
basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

(ii) Recognition and initial measurement 

As a lessee

The Group and the Company recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease 
commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the 
initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and 
remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less 
any lease incentives received.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid 
at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate 
cannot be readily determined, the respective Group entities’ incremental borrowing rate is used. 
Generally, the Group entities use their incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

• fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index 

or rate as at the commencement date;
• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee;
• the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group and the Company are reasonably 

certain to exercise; and
• penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group and the Company are reasonably 

certain not to early terminate the contract.

The Group and the Company exclude variable lease payments that linked to future performance or 
usage of the underlying asset from the lease liability. Instead, these payments are recognised in 
profit or loss in the period in which the performance or use occurs.

The Group and the Company assess at lease commencement whether it is reasonably certain to 
exercise the extension options in determining the lease term.

The Group and the Company have elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. 
The Group and the Company recognise the lease payments associated with these leases as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group and the Company present right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of 
investment property in ‘property, plant and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘borrowings’ in the 
statement of financial position. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Leases (continued)

(iii) Subsequent measurement

As a lessee

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end 
of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same 
basis as those of property, plant and equipment. Depreciation of certain right-of-use assets are 
subsequently capitalised into carrying amount of other assets whenever they meet the criteria for 
capitalisation. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if 
any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or 
rate, if there is a revision of in-substance fixed lease payments, or if there is a change in the 
Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the 
Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination 
option. The Group will reassess whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension option if 
there is a significant change in circumstances within its control.

When the lease liability is remeasured as described in the above paragraph, a corresponding 
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss 
if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

When there is lease modification due to increase in the scope of lease by adding the right-to-use 
one or more underlying assets, the Group and the Company assess whether the lease modification 
shall be accounted for as a separate lease or similar to reassessment of lease liability. The Group 
and the Company account for lease modification as a separate lease when the consideration for the 
lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope 
and any appropriate adjustments.

When there is lease modification due to decrease in scope, the Group and the Company decrease 
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset and remeasure the lease liability to reflect the partial 
or full termination of the lease. The corresponding gain or loss shall be recognised in profit or 
loss. Lease liabilities are remeasured for all other lease modifications with corresponding 
adjustments to the right-of-use asset.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Investments

Long-term investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are stated at cost less impairment loss, 
if any, in the Company’s financial statements unless the investment is classified as held for sale or 
distribution. The cost of investments includes transaction costs.

The carrying amount of these investments includes fair value adjustments on shareholder’s loans and 
advances, if any (Note 2.7(i)).

2.7 Financial instruments

Recognition and initial measurement

A financial instrument is recognised in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group 
or the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a receivable without a significant financing component) and a financial 
liability is measured at fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial instrument not at fair value through 
profit or loss, any directly attributable transaction cost incurred at the acquisition or issuance of the financial 
instrument. A trade receivable that does not contain a significant financing component is initially measured 
at the transaction price.

Classification and subsequent measurement

(i) Financial assets

Financial assets are classified as measured at amortised cost. 

The Group and the Company determine the classification of financial assets at initial recognition and 
are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model 
for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day 
of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.

Amortised cost

Amortised cost category comprises financial assets that are held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. The financial assets are not designated as fair value through profit or loss. 

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method (Note 2.7 (iv)). Interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Financial liabilities

The categories of financial liabilities at initial recognition are as follows:

Amortised cost

Subsequent to initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method (Note  2.7 (iv)).

Gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 
through the amortisation process.

(iii) Derivative financial instruments

The Group and the Company use derivative financial instruments such as forward rate contracts to 
manage certain exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as 
financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is 
negative. 

Any gains and losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives during the year are recognised 
in the profit or loss.

In general, contracts to sell or purchase non-financial items to meet expected own use requirements 
are not accounted for as financial instruments. However, contracts to sell or purchase commodities 
that can be net settled or which contain written options are required to be recognised at fair value, 
with gains and losses recognised in the profit or loss.

An embedded derivative is recognised separately from the host contract where the host contract is not 
a financial asset, and accounted for separately if, and only if, the derivative is not closely related to the 
economic characteristics and risks of the host contract and the host contract is not measured at fair 
value through profit or loss. The host contract, in the event an embedded derivative is recognised 
separately, is accounted for in accordance with policy applicable to the nature of the host contract.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Financial instruments (continued)

(iv) Effective interest method

Amortised cost was computed using the effective interest method. This method used effective interest 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the 
financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial instrument. Amortised cost takes into 
account any transaction costs and any discount or premium on settlement.

(v) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of 
financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously.

(vi) Amortised cost of financial instruments

Interest income is recognised by applying effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount except 
for credit impaired financial assets (see Note 2.8 (i)) where effective interest rate is applied to the 
amortised cost.

(vii) Derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets

A financial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or, 
the Group and the Company have transferred their rights to receive cash flows from the asset or have 
assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party 
under a “pass-through” arrangement without retaining control of the asset or substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new 
liability assumed) and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in equity is recognised in 
the profit or loss, except for equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 
where the gain or loss are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled 
or expired. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liabilities extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including 
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in the profit or loss. In the case of 
waiver of debt from owners, the gain is recognised in equity as capital reserve.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Impairment

(i) Financial assets

The Group and the Company recognise loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on 
financial assets measured at amortised cost.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit loss. 

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition and when estimating expected credit loss, the Group and the Company consider 
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. 
This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s 
historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information, 
where available.

The Group and the Company assume that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased 
significantly if it is past due.

The Group and the Company consider a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely 
to pay its credit obligations to the Group and the Company in full, without recourse by the Group and 
the Company to actions such as realising security. 

Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default 
events over the expected life of a financial instrument, while 12-month expected credit losses are the 
portion of expected credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months 
after the reporting date.

The maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum contractual 
period over which the Group and the Company are exposed to credit risk.

An impairment loss in respect of financial assets measured at amortised cost is recognised in profit or 
loss and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Impairment (continued)

(ii)  Other assets

The carrying amounts of other assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets are reviewed at 
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is 
recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs exceeds 
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows from 
continuing use that are largely independent from other assets and groups. An impairment loss 
recognised in respect of a cash-generating unit is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on 
a pro-rata basis.

The recoverable amount is the greater of the asset’s fair value less cost to sell and its value-in-use. In 
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Impairment losses are reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are credited to the profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are 
recognised. 

2.9 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and bank balances, deposits with licensed financial 
institutions and highly liquid investments which have an insignificant risk of changes in fair value and are 
used by the Group and the Company in the management of their short term commitments. For the purpose 
of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts and deposits 
restricted, if any.

Restricted cash in relation to a subsidiary, consist of deposit held by licensed banks and deposits held in 
trust by licensed banks, which have an insignificant risk of changes in fair value.

Deposit held in trust by licensed banks are funds collected from users which are deposited and managed 
separately in  a trust account. The subsidiary is required to maintain an additional 2% of the Company’s e-
Money liabilities in the trust account at all times in compliance with the Guideline on Electronic money 
issued by Bank Negara Malaysia (“BNM”).

  Company No. 198201008499 (88222-D)

36



2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Contract liability - PETRONAS Mesra Loyalty Programme

PETRONAS Mesra Loyalty Programme is an in-house loyalty programme where members are awarded 
with PETRONAS Mesra points at the point of sale made at PETRONAS stations and Kedai Mesra. The 
monetary value attributed to the awarded points is treated as contract liability and only recognised as 
revenue in the profit or loss upon redemption, cancellation and expiration of the points. Currently, members 
can redeem the awarded points for purchase of fuel at PETRONAS stations, items at Kedai Mesra or with 
selected partners.

Fair value of the contract liability is determined by reference to the monetary value attributable to the 
awarded points and the redemption expiry dates.

2.11 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale.

Cost of petroleum products includes direct costs and transportation charges necessary to bring the 
inventories to their present locations and condition and is determined on a weighted average basis.

Cost of material stores and spares consists of the invoiced value from suppliers.

2.12 Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group and the Company have a present legal or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future net cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the accretion in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as finance cost. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the 
current best estimate.

Possible obligations whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 
more future events not wholly within the control of the Group, are not recognised in the financial statements 
but are disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the possibility of an outflow of economic resources is 
considered remote.

In particular, information about provisions that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in 
the financial statements is described in Note 16.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Employee benefits

(i) Short term benefits

Wages and salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year 
in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group and the Company.

(ii) Defined contribution plans

As required by law, companies in Malaysia make contributions to the state pension scheme, the 
Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”).

Some of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries make contributions to their respective countries’ statutory 
pension schemes and certain other independently-administered funds which are defined contribution 
plans. 

Such contributions are recognised as an expense in the profit or loss as incurred.

2.14   Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the 
profit or loss.

(i) Current tax

Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using the statutory 
tax rates at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

(ii) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided for, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the reporting date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. 
In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred 
tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unabsorbed capital allowances, 
unused tax losses and other unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unabsorbed capital allowances, 
unused tax losses and other unused tax credits can be utilised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.14   Taxation  (continued)

(ii) Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of 
goodwill and the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same 
taxable entity, or on different tax entities where they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets 
on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

Deferred tax asset is reviewed at each reporting date and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the future taxable profit will be available against which the related tax benefit can be 
realised.

2.15 Foreign currency transactions

In preparing the financial statements of individual entities in the Group, transactions in currencies other than 
the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are translated to the functional currencies at rates of 
exchange ruling on the transaction dates. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date have been 
retranslated to the functional currency at rates ruling on the reporting date.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, which are measured at fair value, are 
retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the date when the fair value 
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency are 
not retranslated. 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of subsidiaries with functional currencies other than Ringgit 
Malaysia, are translated into Ringgit Malaysia at the exchange rates ruling at reporting date. 

The income and expenses are translated at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions or an average 
rate that approximates those rates. Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve within equity.

In the consolidated financial statements, when settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to 
the Group’s foreign operation is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains 
and losses arising from such a monetary item are considered to form part of the net investment in a foreign 
operation and are reclassified to other comprehensive income and accumulated under foreign currency 
translation reserve in equity. Upon disposal of the investment, the cumulative exchange differences 
previously recorded in equity are reclassified to the consolidated profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.16   Borrowing costs and foreign currency exchange differences relating to projects-in-progress  

Borrowing costs which are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to be prepared for their intended 
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure 
for the assets is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to 
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when 
all activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are completed.

Exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings, although regarded as an adjustment to 
borrowing costs, are not capitalised but instead recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which they 
arise.

The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is the 
weighted average of borrowings that are outstanding during the year, other than borrowings made 
specifically for the purpose of financing a specific qualifying asset, in which the actual borrowing cost 
incurred on that borrowing less any investment income on the temporary investment of that borrowings, will 
be capitalised. Borrowing costs incurred subsequently to the completion of a specific qualifying asset are 
included in the determination of the capitalisation rate.

2.17   Revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and exclude 
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group or the Company recognises revenue when or as it 
transfers control over a product or service to customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer 
obtains control of the asset.

An entity transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation 
and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s performance 
as the entity performs; 

(b) the entity’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for example, work-in-progress) that the customer 
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the entity’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the entity and the entity has 
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time in accordance with the above criteria, an entity satisfies 
the performance obligation and recognises revenue at a point in time.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18   Financing costs

Financing costs comprise interest payable on borrowings and profit share margin on Islamic Financing 
Facilities as well as accretion in provision of dismantling, removal and restoration costs due to the passage 
of time.

All interest and other costs incurred in connection with borrowings are expensed as incurred, other than that 
capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.16. The interest component of finance 
lease payments is accounted for in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2.5. The financing costs on 
borrowings are recognised using the effective profit/interest method.

2.19   Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary shares. 

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit and loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 

Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit and loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilute potential ordinary 
shares.

2.20   Operating segments

An operating segment is a component of the Group and of the Company that engages in business activities 
from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to 
transactions with any of the Group’s and the Company’s  other components, and for which discrete financial 
information is available. An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the chief 
operating decision maker, which in this case is the Board of Directors of the Company, to make decisions 
about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess the Group’s performance. 

2.21   Fair value measurement

Fair value of an asset or a liability, except for lease transactions, is determined as the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date. The measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability 
takes place either in the principal market or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous 
market.

(i) Financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are actively traded in organised financial markets are 
determined by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business at the end of reporting 
date. For financial instruments where there is no active market, fair value is determined using 
valuation techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; 
reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; discounted cash 
flow analysis or other valuation models.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21   Fair value measurement  (continued)

(ii) Non-financial assets

For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant’s ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as 
possible. Fair value are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the input used in 
the valuation technique as follows:

• Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identifiable assets or liabilities.
• Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
• Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

input).
 

The fair value of an asset to be transferred between levels is determined as of the date of the event or change 
in circumstances that caused the transfer.

The Group recognise transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the date of the event or 
change in circumstances that caused the transfers.
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 3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group 
2020

At 1.1.2020 AdditionsIn RM'000

At cost:
Own use
Freehold land  1,027,567  — 
Buildings  2,163,062  — 
Plant, machinery, tankage and pipeline  2,613,165  12,282 
Office equipment, furniture and fittings  556,901  8,006 
Computer hardware and software  724,882  15,093 
Motor vehicles  106,894  1,938 
Projects-in-progress  191,898  403,962 

 7,384,369  441,281 

Right-of-use
Leasehold land  1,189,426  2,988 
Buildings  6,616  — 
Other plant and equipment  3,360  — 
Vessels  279,148  — 
Motor vehicles  4,675  — 

 1,483,225  2,988 
 8,867,594  444,269 

continue to next page
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group 
2020 Disposals/

write-offs Transfers

Translation
exchange

difference
At 

31.12.2020 In RM'000

At cost:
Own use
Freehold land  —  13,441  —  1,041,008 
Buildings  (23,536)  54,408  —  2,193,934 
Plant, machinery, tankage and pipeline  (84,113)  114,366  —  2,655,700 
Office equipment, furniture and fittings  (12,192)  20,956  (18)  573,653 
Computer hardware and software  (168,752)  108,261  (54)  679,430 
Motor vehicles  (5,210)  8,893  (29)  112,486 
Projects-in-progress  (9,374)  (353,157)  —  233,329 

 (303,177)  (32,832)  (101)  7,489,540 

Right-of-use
Leasehold land  (2,748)  32,832  —  1,222,498 
Buildings  (94)  —  —  6,522 
Other plant and equipment  —  —  —  3,360 
Vessels  —  —  —  279,148 
Motor vehicles  —  —  —  4,675 

 (2,842)  32,832  —  1,516,203 
 (306,019)  —  (101)  9,005,743 

continued from previous page
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group 
2020

At 1.1.2020
Charge for

the yearIn RM'000

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses:
Own use
Freehold land  809  — 
Buildings  1,537,484  92,795 
Plant, machinery, tankage and pipeline  1,827,108  154,585 
Office equipment, furniture and fittings  423,678  37,501 
Computer hardware and software  612,987  47,676 
Motor vehicles  85,206  4,793 
Projects-in-progress  —  — 

 4,487,272  337,350 

Right-of-use
Leasehold land  139,076  39,274 
Buildings  1,261  1,776 
Other plant and equipment  1,034  1,034 
Vessels  102,297  116,652 
Motor vehicles  1,753  1,753 

 245,421  160,489 
 4,732,693  497,839 

continue to next page
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group 
2020 Disposals/

write-offs

Translation
exchange

difference
At 

31.12.2020 In RM'000

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses:
Own use
Freehold land  —  —  809 
Buildings  (23,218)  —  1,607,061 
Plant, machinery, tankage and pipeline  (81,228)  —  1,900,465 
Office equipment, furniture and fittings  (12,077)  (10)  449,092 
Computer hardware and software  (167,731)  (23)  492,909 
Motor vehicles  (5,210)  (36)  84,753 
Projects-in-progress  —  —  — 

 (289,464)  (69)  4,535,089 

Right-of-use
Leasehold land  (2,279)  —  176,071 
Buildings  —  —  3,037 
Other plant and equipment  —  —  2,068 
Vessels  —  —  218,949 
Motor vehicles  —  —  3,506 

 (2,279)  —  403,631 
 (291,743)  (69)  4,938,720 

continued from previous page
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group 
2019 At 

1.1.2019 Additions
Disposals/
write-offsIn RM'000

At cost:
Freehold land  1,008,337  40  (3,397) 
Buildings  2,121,545  —  (24,610) 
Plant, machinery, tankage and pipeline  2,440,889  16,440  (49,149) 
Office equipment, furniture and fittings  516,057  4,693  (12,208) 
Computer hardware and software  636,911  84,413  (9,460) 
Motor vehicles  94,038  407  (455) 
Projects-in-progress  255,038  352,287  (8,718) 

 7,072,815  458,280  (107,997) 

Right-of-use
Leasehold land  1,165,742  1,862  (17,389) 
Buildings  5,479  1,137  — 
Other plant and equipment  3,360  —  — 
Vessels  166,430  112,718  — 
Motor vehicles  4,675  —  — 

 1,345,686  115,717  (17,389) 
 8,418,501  573,997  (125,386) 

continue to next page
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group 
2019

Transfers

Translation
exchange

difference
At 

31.12.2019 In RM'000

At cost:
Freehold land  22,587  —  1,027,567 
Buildings  66,127  —  2,163,062 
Plant, machinery, tankage and pipeline  204,985  —  2,613,165 
Office equipment, furniture and fittings  48,263  96  556,901 
Computer hardware and software  12,880  138  724,882 
Motor vehicles  12,656  248  106,894 
Projects-in-progress  (406,709)  —  191,898 

 (39,211)  482  7,384,369 

Right-of-use
Leasehold land  39,211  —  1,189,426 
Buildings  —  —  6,616 
Other plant and equipment  —  —  3,360 
Vessels  —  —  279,148 
Motor vehicles  —  —  4,675 

 39,211  —  1,483,225 
 —  482  8,867,594 

continued from previous page
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group 
2019 At 

1.1.2019 
Charge for

the year
Disposals/
write-offsIn RM'000

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses:
Freehold land  809  —  — 
Buildings  1,471,613  87,919  (22,048) 
Plant, machinery, tankage and pipeline  1,718,230  154,530  (45,652) 
Office equipment, furniture and fittings  403,406  32,120  (11,896) 
Computer hardware and software  576,508  45,704  (9,310) 
Motor vehicles  80,370  5,128  (455) 
Projects-in-progress  —  —  — 

 4,250,936  325,401  (89,361) 

Right-of-use
Leasehold land  113,068  39,711  (13,703) 
Buildings  —  1,261  — 
Other plant and equipment  —  1,034  — 
Vessels  —  102,297  — 
Motor vehicles  —  1,753  — 

 113,068  146,056  (13,703) 
 4,364,004  471,457  (103,064) 

continue to next page
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group 
2019

Translation
exchange

difference
At 

31.12.2019 In RM'000

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses:
Freehold land  —  809 
Buildings  —  1,537,484 
Plant, machinery, tankage and pipeline  —  1,827,108 
Office equipment, furniture and fittings  48  423,678 
Computer hardware and software  85  612,987 
Motor vehicles  163  85,206 
Projects-in-progress  —  — 

 296  4,487,272 

Right-of-use
Leasehold land  —  139,076 
Buildings  —  1,261 
Other plant and equipment  —  1,034 
Vessels  —  102,297 
Motor vehicles  —  1,753 

 —  245,421 
 296  4,732,693 

continued from previous page
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Company 
2020 At 

1.1.2020 Additions
Disposals/
write-offs Transfers

At 
31.12.2020 In RM'000

At cost:
Own use
Freehold land  1,027,567  —  —  13,441  1,041,008 
Buildings  2,135,763  —  (23,536)  54,408  2,166,635 
Plant, machinery, tankage and 

pipeline  2,215,990  12,182  (84,007)  108,017  2,252,182 
Office equipment, furniture and 

fittings  551,492  5,783  (12,192)  20,956  566,039 
Computer hardware and software  622,252  212  (168,752)  100,516  554,228 
Motor vehicles  98,474  1,550  (4,970)  8,893  103,947 
Projects-in-progress  178,984  389,884  (8,374)  (339,063)  221,431 

 6,830,522  409,611  (301,831)  (32,832)  6,905,470 

Right-of-use
Leasehold land  1,149,218  2,407  (2,748)  32,832  1,181,709 
Buildings  311  420  —  —  731 
Other plant and equipment  3,360  —  —  —  3,360 
Vessels  279,148  —  —  —  279,148 
Motor vehicles  4,675  —  —  —  4,675 

 1,436,712  2,827  (2,748)  32,832  1,469,623 
 8,267,234  412,438  (304,579)  —  8,375,093 
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Company 
2020 At 

1.1.2020 
Charge for

the year
Disposals/
write-offs

At 
31.12.2020 In RM'000

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses:

Own use
Freehold land  809  —  —  809 
Buildings  1,510,589  92,688  (23,218)  1,580,059 
Plant, machinery, tankage and pipeline  1,595,287  138,602  (81,156)  1,652,733 
Office equipment, furniture and fittings  420,377  36,008  (12,077)  444,308 
Computer hardware and software  582,187  24,938  (167,731)  439,394 
Motor vehicles  78,355  4,743  (4,970)  78,128 
Projects-in-progress  —  —  —  — 

 4,187,604  296,979  (289,152)  4,195,431 

Right-of-use
Leasehold land  137,425  37,954  (2,279)  173,100 
Buildings  207  209  —  416 
Other plant and equipment  1,034  1,034  —  2,068 
Vessels  102,297  116,652  —  218,949 
Motor vehicles  1,753  1,753  —  3,506 

 242,716  157,602  (2,279)  398,039 
 4,430,320  454,581  (291,431)  4,593,470 
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Company 
2019 At 

1.1.2019 Additions
Disposals/
write-offs Transfers

At 
31.12.2019 In RM'000

At cost:
Freehold land  1,008,337  40  (3,397)  22,587  1,027,567 
Buildings  2,094,470  —  (24,610)  65,903  2,135,763 
Plant, machinery, tankage and 

pipeline  2,043,111  15,210  (44,507)  202,176  2,215,990 
Office equipment, furniture and 

fittings  511,338  4,462  (12,055)  47,747  551,492 
Computer hardware and software  619,019  886  (9,449)  11,796  622,252 
Motor vehicles  86,273  —  (455)  12,656  98,474 
Projects-in-progress  251,380  338,398  (8,718)  (402,076)  178,984 

 6,613,928  358,996  (103,191)  (39,211)  6,830,522 

Right-of-use
Leasehold land  1,125,531  1,862  (17,386)  39,211  1,149,218 
Buildings  311  —  —  —  311 
Other plant and equipment  3,360  —  —  —  3,360 
Vessels  166,430  112,718  —  —  279,148 
Motor vehicles  4,675  —  —  —  4,675 

 1,300,307  114,580  (17,386)  39,211  1,436,712 
 7,914,235  473,576  (120,577)  —  8,267,234 
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Company 
2019 At 

1.1.2019 
Charge for

the year
Disposals/
write-offs

At 
31.12.2019 In RM'000

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses:

Freehold land  809  —  —  809 
Buildings  1,444,848  87,789  (22,048)  1,510,589 
Plant, machinery, tankage and 

pipeline  1,497,645  138,778  (41,136)  1,595,287 
Office equipment, furniture and 

fittings  400,707  31,440  (11,770)  420,377 
Computer hardware and software  563,602  27,888  (9,303)  582,187 
Motor vehicles  73,713  5,097  (455)  78,355 
Projects-in-progress  —  —  —  — 

 3,981,324  290,992  (84,712)  4,187,604 

Right-of-use
Leasehold land  112,782  38,346  (13,703)  137,425 
Buildings  —  207  —  207 
Other plant and equipment  —  1,034  —  1,034 
Vessels  —  102,297  —  102,297 
Motor vehicles  —  1,753  —  1,753 

 112,782  143,637  (13,703)  242,716 
 4,094,106  434,629  (98,415)  4,430,320 
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

In RM'000 Group Company
Carrying amount 2020 2019 2020 2019
Own use
Freehold land  1,040,199  1,026,758  1,040,199  1,026,758 
Buildings  586,873  625,578  586,576  625,174 
Plant, machinery, tankage and pipeline  755,235  786,057  599,449  620,703 
Office equipment, furniture and fittings  124,561  133,223  121,731  131,115 
Computer hardware and software  186,521  111,895  114,834  40,065 
Motor vehicles  27,733  21,688  25,819  20,119 
Projects-in-progress  233,329  191,898  221,431  178,984 

 2,954,451  2,897,097  2,710,039  2,642,918 

Right-of-use
Leasehold land  1,046,427  1,050,350  1,008,609  1,011,793 
Buildings  3,485  5,355  315  104 
Other plant and equipment  1,292  2,326  1,292  2,326 
Vessels  60,199  176,851  60,199  176,851 
Motor vehicles  1,169  2,922  1,169  2,922 

 1,112,572  1,237,804  1,071,584  1,193,996 
 4,067,023  4,134,901  3,781,623  3,836,914 

Restrictions of land title

The titles to certain freehold and leasehold land are in the process of being registered in the Company’s 
name.
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

3.1 As a lessee 

Significant judgments and assumptions in relation to leases

The Group and the Company assesses at lease commencement by applying significant judgment whether it 
is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. Group entities consider all facts and circumstances 
including their past practice and any cost that will be incurred to change the asset if an option to extend is 
not taken, to help them determine the lease term.

The Group and the Company also applied judgment and assumptions in determining the incremental 
borrowing rate of the respective leases. The Group and Company first determine the closest available 
borrowing rates before using significant judgment to determine the adjustments required to reflect the term, 
security, value or economic environment of the respective leases.

4. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
In RM'000 2020 2019
Unquoted shares at cost  173,010  60,010 

Details of key subsidiaries are stated in Note 31 to the financial statements.
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5. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Group Company
In RM'000 2020 2019 2020 2019
Unquoted shares at cost  530  530  530  530 
Share of post-acquisition profits and reserves  1,135  926  —  — 

 1,665  1,456  530  530 

Dividend received  —  380  —  380 

Summary of financial information on associates:

2020 2019
In RM'000 Total Total
As at 31 December
Total assets  10,574  10,524 
Total liabilities  (2,246)  (3,243) 
Net assets  8,328  7,281 

Year ended 31 December
Revenue  17,992  17,970 
Total comprehensive income  1,047  1,404 

Details of the associates are stated in Note 32 to the financial statements.
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6. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Group Company
In RM'000  2020  2019  2020  2019 
Unquoted shares at cost  4,121  4,121  25  25 
Share of post-acquisition profits and reserves  15,328  17,440  —  — 

 19,449  21,561  25  25 

Dividend received  1,827  2,250  500  2,250 

Summary of financial information on joint ventures:

In RM'000
2020

Total
2019

Total
As at 31 December
Total assets  79,243  124,651 
Total liabilities  (28,235)  (69,924) 
Net assets  51,008  54,727 

Year ended 31 December
Revenue  225,131  523,303 
Total comprehensive (loss)/income  (566)  8,459 

Details of the joint ventures are stated in Note 33 to the financial statements.

7. INVENTORIES

Group Company
In RM'000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Petroleum products  408,861  795,288  402,411  789,694 
Stores and spares  1,368  1,531  —  — 

 410,229  796,819  402,411  789,694 

Recognised in profit or loss:
Inventories recognised as cost of sales  16,414,630  27,056,978  16,084,532  26,666,906 
Write-down to net realisable value  4,223  3,060  4,088  — 
Reversal of write-down to net realisable value  —  (1,180)  —  — 
Inventories written off  37  471  —  390 
Reversal of inventories written off  (4,525)  —  —  — 
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8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
In RM'000 2020 2019 2020 2019
Trade 
Trade receivables  918,385  1,262,929  812,858  1,091,095 
Amounts due from:
 - Holding company  94  23  94  23 
 - Subsidiaries  —  —  101  101 
 - Associates and joint ventures  3  5  3  5 
 - Related companies  48,642  98,402  42,303  89,222 
Less: Impairment losses  (12,236)  (10,469)  (6,428)  (3,321) 

 954,888  1,350,890  848,931  1,177,125 

Non-trade
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments  86,033  103,483  69,433  88,199 
Advances and loans to:
 - Associates and joint ventures  1,016  851  1,016  851 
Amounts due from:
 - Holding company  5,016  7,110  4,270  6,546 
 - Subsidiaries  —  —  7,060  635 
 - Related companies  3,678  1,365  3,446  1,334 
Subsidy receivables  253,806  237,223  253,806  237,223 
Less: Impairment losses  (134,993)  (135,911)  (134,993)  (135,911) 

 214,556  214,121  204,038  198,877 
Trade and other receivables  1,169,444  1,565,011  1,052,969  1,376,002 

The trade amounts due from holding company, subsidiaries and related companies arose in the normal 
course of business.

The non-trade amounts due from holding company, subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and related 
companies are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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9. FUND INVESTMENT

Group
In RM'000 2020 2019

Deposits placed with licensed banks  —  51,004 

Fund investment consists of deposits placed with licensed banks which typically have a maturity period of 
more than 3 months.

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
In RM'000 2020 2019 2020 2019
Cash with PETRONAS Integrated Financial 

Shared Services Centre  2,467,302  3,221,696  2,273,559  3,111,722 
Cash and bank balances  135,264  50,279  37,538  35,010 
Deposits placed with licensed banks  68,485  153,525  —  — 
Restricted cash  20,769  —  —  — 

 2,691,820  3,425,500  2,311,097  3,146,732 

A portion of the Group’s and of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are held in the In-House account 
(“IHA”) managed by PETRONAS Integrated Financial Shared Services Centre (“IFSSC”) to enable more 
efficient cash management for the Group and the Company.

Included in cash and cash equivalents of the Group and of the Company are interest-bearing balances 
amounting to RM2,678,720,000 (2019:RM3,409,338,000) and RM2,297,997,000 (2019: RM3,130,339,000) 
respectively.

Included in cash and cash equivalents of the Group are RM20,769,000 (2019: Nil) held by a trustee. The 
amount represents the unutilised value of e-wallet monies and amount due to service providers for value 
utilised. 

11. SHARE CAPITAL

2020 2019
Group and Company No of shares Amount No of shares Amount

 '000 RM'000  '000 RM'000
Issued and fully paid shares with no par value 

classified as equity instruments:
Ordinary shares  993,454  993,454  993,454  993,454 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are 
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. 
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12. RESERVES

Capital reserves

Capital reserve arose as a result of business combination of entities under the common control of 
PETRONAS and comprises merger deficit.

Merger deficit represents the excess of cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net carrying value 
of identifiable net assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree. Merger deficit is classified as 
part of non-distributable reserves.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of subsidiaries whose functional currencies are different from that of 
the Company’s functional currency as well as foreign currency differences arising from the translation of 
monetary items that are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation.

13. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

This consists of the non-controlling interests’ proportion of share capital and reserves of partly-owned 
subsidiary.

14. BORROWINGS

Group Company
In RM'000  2020  2019  2020  2019 

Non-current
Secured
Lease liabilities  96,778  158,694  21,717  82,291 

Unsecured
Islamic financing facilities  —  9,959  —  — 
Total non-current borrowings  96,778  168,653  21,717  82,291 

Current
Secured
Lease liabilities  62,012  140,239  60,302  138,406 

Unsecured
Islamic financing facilities  9,880  19,797  —  — 
Revolving credits  9,500  5,466  —  — 
Total current borrowings  81,392  165,502  60,302  138,406 
Total borrowings  178,170  334,155  82,019  220,697 
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14. BORROWINGS (continued)

Terms and debt repayment schedule

Group 
2020

Total
Under 1 

year
1-2 

years
2-5 

years
Over 

5 yearsIn RM'000
Secured
Lease liabilities  158,790  62,012  10,318  4,190  82,270 

Unsecured
Islamic financing facilities  9,880  9,880  —  —  — 
Revolving credits  9,500  9,500  —  —  — 

 178,170  81,392  10,318  4,190  82,270 

Group 
2019

Total
Under 1 

year
1-2 

years
2-5 

years
Over

 5 yearsIn RM'000
Secured
Lease liabilities  298,933  140,239  63,252  13,086  82,356 

Unsecured
Islamic financing facilities  29,756  19,797  9,959  —  — 
Revolving credit  5,466  5,466  —  —  — 

 334,155  165,502  73,211  13,086  82,356 

Company 
2020 Total

Under 1 
year

1-2 
years

2-5 
years

Over 
5 years

In RM'000
Secured
Lease liabilities  82,019  60,302  9,106  2,030  10,581 

Company 
2019

Total
Under 1 

year
1-2 

years
2-5 

years
Over 

5 yearsIn RM'000
Secured
Lease liabilities  220,697  138,406  61,199  9,848  11,244 

Unsecured Islamic financing facilities

The unsecured Islamic financing facilities are governed by the Musharakah Mutanaqisah and Commodity 
Murabahah principles and bear a profit margin ranging from 2.78% to 4.32% (2019: 4.27% to 4.68%) per 
annum with principal repayment by quarterly instalments until September 2021.

Unsecured revolving credits

The unsecured revolving credits bears an interest rate ranging from 2.80% to 2.89% (2019: 2.90%) per 
annum.
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14. BORROWINGS (continued)

Secured lease liabilities

The lease liabilities of the Group and the Company bear interest at rates ranging from 3.68% to 8.43% 
(2019: 4.19% to 8.43%) and 3.68% to 7.80% (2019: 4.19% to 7.80%) per annum respectively.

Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

Group
Borrowings DividendsIn RM'000

Balance at 1 January 2020  334,155  — 
Changes from financing cash flows
Drawdown/(Repayment) of:
- Islamic financing facilities  (19,876)  — 
- Revolving credits  4,114  — 
- Lease liabilities  (141,163)  — 
Interest expenses:
- Revolving credits  (40)  — 
- Lease liabilities  (14,047)  — 
Profit margin paid for Islamic financing facilities  (788)  — 
Dividends paid  —  (606,007) 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  —  — 
Total changes from financing cash flows  (171,800)  (606,007) 
The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates  (80)  — 
Other changes
- Dividends declared  —  606,007 
- Finance costs  14,875  — 
- Addition of new leases  1,235  — 
- Termination of leases  (215)  — 
Balance at 31 December 2020  178,170  — 
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14. BORROWINGS (continued)

Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities (continued)

Group
Borrowings DividendsIn RM'000

Balance at 1 January 2019  365,395  — 
Changes from financing cash flows
Drawdown/(Repayment) of:
- Islamic financing facilities  (19,214)  — 
- Revolving credit  (957)  — 
- Lease liabilities  (124,426)  — 
Interest expenses:
- Revolving credit  (107)  — 
- Lease liabilities  (18,930)  — 
Profit margin paid for Islamic financing facilities  (1,841)  — 
Dividends paid  —  (695,418) 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  —  (3,675) 
Total changes from financing cash flows  (165,475)  (699,093) 
The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates  433  — 
Other changes
- Dividends declared  —  699,093 
- Finance costs  20,878  — 
- Addition of new leases  113,855  — 
- Termination of leases  (931)  — 
Balance at 31 December 2019  334,155  — 
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14. BORROWINGS (continued)

Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities (continued)

Company
Borrowings DividendsIn RM'000

Balance at 1 January 2020  220,697  — 
Changes from financing cash flows
Repayment of lease liabilities  (139,556)  — 
Interest expense on lease liabilities  (7,538)  — 
Dividends paid  —  (606,007) 
Total changes from financing cash flows  (147,094)  (606,007) 
Other changes
- Dividends declared  —  606,007 
- Finance costs  7,538  — 
- Addition of new leases  878  — 
Balance at 31 December 2020  82,019  — 

Company
Borrowings DividendsIn RM'000

Balance at 1 January 2019  232,277  — 
Changes from financing cash flows
Repayment of lease liabilities  (123,367)  — 
Interest expense on lease liabilities  (12,496)  — 
Dividends paid  —  (695,418) 
Total changes from financing cash flows  (135,863)  (695,418) 
Other changes
- Dividends declared  —  695,418 
- Finance costs  12,496  — 
- Addition of new leases  112,718  — 
- Termination of leases  (931)  — 
Balance at 31 December 2019  220,697  — 
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15. DEFERRED TAX 

The components and movements of deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as follows: 

Group

At 1.1.2020

Credited/
(charged) to 

profit or loss
At 

31.12.2020In RM'000

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment  (138,767)  (2,724)  (141,491) 
Contract liability - Loyalty Programme  21,651  87  21,738 
Lease liabilities  16,208  (2,189)  14,019 
Expected Credit Loss ("ECL")  590  535  1,125 

 (100,318)  (4,291)  (104,609) 

Group
At 1.1.2019

Credited/
(charged) to 

profit or loss
At 

31.12.2019In RM'000
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment  (143,021)  4,254  (138,767) 
Contract liability - Loyalty Programme  17,817  3,834  21,651 
Lease liabilities  20,099  (3,891)  16,208 
Expected Credit Loss ("ECL")  686  (96)  590 

 (104,419)  4,101  (100,318) 

Company
At 1.1.2020

Credited/
(charged) to 

profit or loss
At

 31.12.2020In RM'000
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment  (106,048)  (1,560)  (107,608) 
Contract liability - Loyalty Programme  21,650  87  21,737 
Lease liabilities  7,689  (4,577)  3,112 
Expected Credit Loss ("ECL")  359  639  998 

 (76,350)  (5,411)  (81,761) 

Company
At 1.1.2019

Credited/
(charged) to 

profit or loss
At

 31.12.2019In RM'000
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment  (114,047)  7,999  (106,048) 
Contract liability - Loyalty Programme  17,817  3,833  21,650 
Lease liabilities  11,832  (4,143)  7,689 
Expected Credit Loss ("ECL")  503  (144)  359 

 (83,895)  7,545  (76,350) 
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16. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS

Group Company
In RM'000 2020 2019 2020 2019
Dismantling, removal and restoration costs  29,495  27,680  29,495  27,680 
Other long term liabilities  833  793  —  — 

 30,328  28,473  29,495  27,680 

Dismantling, removal and restoration costs

The movement of provision for dismantling, removal and restoration costs during the financial year is 
shown below:

In RM'000 2020 2019  

Group and Company
Balance at 1 January  27,680  28,777 
Net changes in provision  655  (2,031) 
Unwinding of discount  1,160  934 
Balance at 31 December  29,495  27,680 

Under provisions of certain land lease agreements, the Company has an obligation to dismantle and remove 
structures on certain sites and restore those sites at the end of the lease term to an acceptable condition 
consistent with the lease agreement.

For these affected sites, the liabilities for dismantling, removal and restoration costs are recognised at 
present value of the compounded future expenditure estimated using existing technology, at current prices 
and discounted using a real discount rate.

The present value of the estimated costs is capitalised as part of the asset and the related provisions raised on 
the date when the obligation arises. The capitalised cost is depreciated over the expected life of the asset. 
The increase in the net present value of the provision for the expected cost is included as finance costs in the 
profit or loss.

Any change in the present value of the estimated expenditure is reflected as an adjustment to the provision.

While the provision is based on the best estimate of future costs and the economic lives of the affected 
assets, there is uncertainty regarding both the amount and timing of incurring these costs. All the estimates 
are reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, where there is indication of a material change.
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17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
In RM'000 2020 2019 2020 2019
Trade
Trade payables  31,699  94,314  13,455  72,549 
Contract liability  90,572  90,211  90,572  90,211 
Amounts due to:
- Related companies  1,160,424  2,308,558  1,126,689  2,269,620 
- Subsidiaries  —  —  893  4,268 
- Associates and joint ventures  21  10  21  10 

 1,282,716  2,493,093  1,231,630  2,436,658 

Non-trade
Other payables  633,566  739,871  583,037  676,572 
Amounts due to:
- Holding company  164,359  197,920  83,910  120,261 
- Subsidiaries  —  —  12,614  5,477 
- Associates and joint ventures  7,964  2,674  7,925  2,674 
- Related companies  48,512  6,653  45,677  3,528 
E-Money liabilities  16,850  —  —  — 
Duties payables  188,094  —  188,094  — 

 1,059,345  947,118  921,257  808,512 
Trade and other payables  2,342,061  3,440,211  2,152,887  3,245,170 

Contract liability is attributable to the monetary value of the awarded Mesra points under PETRONAS 
Mesra Loyalty Programme.

The trade amounts due to the holding company, subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and related 
companies arose in the normal course of business.

The non-trade amounts due to holding company, subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and related 
companies are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

E-Money liabilities are in relations to users’ balances in their e-wallets which are refundable to users upon 
request.
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18. REVENUE

Group Company
In RM'000 2020 2019 2020 2019
Revenue from contracts with customers
Sales of petroleum products  18,699,386  30,266,957  18,254,411  29,726,075 
Rendering of services  11,561  26,614  —  — 

 18,710,947  30,293,571  18,254,411  29,726,075 

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by major products/services lines.

 2020 
Group

2019  2020 
Company

2019In RM'000
Major products/services lines
 - Retail  11,178,291  15,369,819  11,031,030  15,181,299 
 - Commercial  7,521,095  14,897,138  7,223,381  14,544,776 
 - Others  11,561  26,614  —  — 

 18,710,947  30,293,571  18,254,411  29,726,075 

Revenue derived from petroleum products are predominantly sold to the retail and commercial sectors in 
Malaysia which have been disclosed in the Operating Segment (Note 26). The timing and recognition of 
revenue derived from petroleum products is recognised at a point in time.

Nature of goods and services

Nature of goods 
and services

Timing of recognition or method used 
to recognise revenue

Significant payment terms

Retail Revenue is recognised when petroleum 
products are delivered and accepted by 
the customers at their premises/sites or 
ex-depot.

Payment for the products supplied shall be 
made before delivery, on delivery or 
within stipulated credit period.

Commercial Revenue is recognised when petroleum 
products are delivered and accepted by 
the customers at their premises/sites or 
ex-depot.

Payment for the products supplied shall be 
made on delivery or within stipulated 
credit period.

Others Revenue is recognised over time when 
services are rendered to customer.

Payment for the services rendered shall be 
made within stipulated credit period.

There are no variable elements in consideration, obligation for returns or refunds nor warranty in the 
provision of goods and services by the Group and the Company.
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19. OPERATING PROFIT

Group Company
In RM'000 Note 2020 2019 2020 2019

Included in operating profit are the 
following charges:

Audit fees:
 - KPMG Malaysia  744  684  541  541 
 - other auditors  117  116  —  — 
Non Audit fees:
 - KPMG Malaysia  109  347  106  317 
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment 3  497,839  471,457  454,581  434,629 
Expenses relating to short-term 

leases (Note a)  124,150  104,814  124,150  104,805 
Expenses relating to leases of low-

value assets (Note b)  123  121  29  25 
Expenses relating to variable lease 

payments not included in the 
measurement of lease liabilities  122,407  197,974  121,955  197,970 

Impairment losses on:
 - trade receivables  10,532  1,038  7,077  822 
 - other receivables  33  562  33  562 
Inventories written down to net 

realisable value 7  4,223  3,060  4,088  — 
Net loss on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment  4,199  —  4,175  — 
Property, plant and equipment 

written off  1,393  9,778  1,299  9,778 
Property, plant and equipment 

expensed off  7,119  625  7,075  439 
Facility charges:
- plant and equipment  907  701  900  691 
- land and buildings  28,887  30,462  28,887  30,031 
Staff costs:
 - wages, salaries and others  220,766  271,749  193,196  238,327 
 - contributions to EPF  37,231  33,665  32,995  30,207 
 Inventories written off 7  37  471  —  390 
Net realised loss on foreign 

exchange  1,028  —  954  — 
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19. OPERATING PROFIT (continued)

Group Company
In RM'000 Note 2020 2019 2020 2019

and credits:
Dividend income:
- subsidiary  —  —  121,270  6,825 
- associates 5  —  —  —  380 
- joint ventures 6  —  —  500  2,250 
 Net gain on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment  —  18,727  —  18,727 
Net unrealised gain on foreign 

exchange  2,255  399  2,272  411 
Net realised gain on foreign 

exchange  —  2,593  —  2,658 
Interest income  71,270  121,997  66,009  113,133 
Income from rental of premises  991  864  198  — 
Reversal of:
 - write down of inventory to net 

realisable value 7  —  1,180  —  — 
 - inventories written off 7  4,525  —  —  — 
Write back of impairment losses:
 - trade receivables  4,384  1,082  3,927  743 
 - other receivables  651  996  651  996 
COVID-19 related rent concessions  139  —  —  — 

a) The Group leases vessels with contract terms of less than 1 years. These leases are short term in nature 
and the Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for these leases.

b) The Group leases various office equipment with contract terms of 1 to 5 years. These leases are low-
value in nature and the Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for 
these leases.
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20. FINANCING COSTS

Group Company
In RM'000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Recognised in profit or loss:
Unwinding of discount
- Provision for dismantling, removal and 

restoration costs  1,160  934  1,160  934 
Profit margin on Islamic financing facilities  788  1,841  —  — 
Interest on revolving credits  40  107  —  — 
Interest on lease liabilities  14,047  18,930  7,538  12,496 

 16,035  21,812  8,698  13,430 

21. TAX EXPENSE

Group Company
In RM'000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Current tax expense
Current year  116,103  310,000  104,021  289,270 
Prior year  (6,387)  (14,662)  (6,104)  (9,445) 

 109,716  295,338  97,917  279,825 

Deferred tax expense
Origination/(Reversal) of temporary 

differences  7,853  (7,292)  8,937  (9,091) 
(Over)/Under provision in prior years  (3,562)  3,191  (3,526)  1,546 
Total deferred tax expense  4,291  (4,101)  5,411  (7,545) 
Total tax expense  114,007  291,237  103,328  272,280 

  Company No. 198201008499 (88222-D)

72



21. TAX EXPENSE (continued)

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before taxation at the statutory income tax rate to 
income tax expense at the effective income tax rate of the Group and of the Company is as follows:

Group
% 2020 % 2019In RM'000

Profit before taxation  386,421  1,128,872 

Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate 24  92,741 24  270,929 
Effect of different tax rates in foreign 

jurisdictions —  65 —  (31) 
Non deductible expenses, net of non assessable 

income 6  22,919 2  25,031 
Effect of net deferred tax benefits not 

recognised 2  8,231 1  6,779 
32  123,956 27  302,708 

(Over)/Under provision in prior years
 - current tax expense (2)  (6,387) (1)  (14,662) 
 - deferred tax expense (1)  (3,562) —  3,191 
Tax expense 29  114,007 26  291,237 

Company
% 2020 % 2019In RM'000

Profit before taxation  496,329  1,084,995 

Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate 24  119,119 24  260,399 

(Non assessable income, net of non deductible 
expenditure)/Non deductible expenses, net of 
non assessable income (1)  (6,161) 2  19,780 

23  112,958 26  280,179 
(Over)/Under provision in prior years
 - current tax expense (1)  (6,104) (1)  (9,445) 
 - deferred tax expense (1)  (3,526) —  1,546 
Tax expense 21  103,328 25  272,280 
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21. TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets 

The deferred tax assets not recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of the temporary 
differences of a subsidiary are as shown:

Group
In RM'000 2020 2019

Unutilised tax losses  28,181  11,704 
Unabsorbed capital allowance  52,961  35,142 

 81,142  46,846 

The unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowance above in relation to a subsidiary have not been 
recognised as the Group is uncertain if future taxable profits of sufficient quantum will be available against 
which the Group can utilise the benefits therefrom. The unutilised tax loss carry-forward will be limited to 7 
years of assessment starting from the year of assessment 2019.

22. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per ordinary share

The calculation of basic earnings per ordinary share was based on the profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding calculated as follows:

Group
In RM'000 2020 2019

Profit for the year attributable to shareholders   275,964  829,535 
Number of ordinary shares ('000)  993,454  993,454 
Basic earnings per ordinary share (in sen)  27.8  83.5 

Diluted earnings per share

No diluted earnings per share is disclosed in these financial statements as there is no potential dilutive 
ordinary share.
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23. DIVIDENDS

Company
In RM'000  2020  2019 

In respect of financial year ended 31 December 2019:
Quarter 4:

- Interim dividend of 25.0 sen per ordinary share (2018: 25.0 sen)  248,363  248,363 
- Special dividend of 15.0 sen per ordinary share (2018: nil)  149,018  — 

In respect of financial year ended 31 December 2020:
Quarter 1: interim dividend of 5.0 sen per ordinary share (2019: 15.0 sen)  49,673  149,018 
Quarter 2: interim dividend of 5.0 sen per ordinary share (2019: 14.0 sen)  49,673  139,084 
Quarter 3: interim dividend of 11.0 sen per ordinary share (2019: 16.0 sen)  109,280  158,953 

 606,007  695,418 

The Directors had on, 19 February 2021, declared an interim dividend of 17.0 sen per ordinary share 
amounting to RM168,887,180 in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2020 which has not been 
accounted for in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

24. RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES

Significant transactions with related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group or the 
Company if the Group or the Company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or jointly control the 
party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice 
versa, or where the Group or the Company and the party are subject to common control. Related parties may 
be individuals or other entities.

Related parties also include key management personnel defined as those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of  the Group either directly or indirectly. 
The key management personnel include all the Directors of the Group, and certain members of senior 
management of the Group.

The Group’s and the Company’s related parties include subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures as well as the 
holding company, PETRONAS and its related entities. The Group’s related parties also includes the 
Government of Malaysia and its related entities as the holding company is wholly-owned by the 
Government of Malaysia.

Key management personnel compensation

Group and Company
In RM'000 2020 2019
Directors
- Fees  1,314  1,010 
- Other short-term employee benefits  32  31 

 1,346  1,041 
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24. RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES (continued)

Key management personnel compensation (continued)

The Company reimbursed the holding company for payroll related costs and benefits of certain key 
management personnel as well as fees for Directors who are appointees of the holding company as disclosed 
in the related parties disclosures.

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group and the Company 
had the following transactions with related parties during the financial year:

Group
2020 2019In RM'000

Federal and State Government of Malaysia:
Sales of petroleum products  228,355  306,648 
Government of Malaysia's related entities:
Sales of petroleum products  1,721,959  5,043,219 
Holding company:
Sales of petroleum products  406  698 
Facility charges  (22,365)  (21,313) 
Reimbursement of key management personnel costs and benefits  (1,352)  (1,520) 
Interest income from PETRONAS IFSSC  69,498  121,977 
Fees for representation in the Board of Directors*  (659)  (502) 
Information, communication and technology charges  (48,425)  (40,659) 
Related companies:
Sales of petroleum products  742,899  1,299,305 
Purchases of petroleum products  (14,349,787)  (26,950,776) 
Information, communication and technology charges  (75,083)  (19,375) 
Lease expenses  (91,514)  (110,818) 

*  Fees paid directly to holding company in respect of directors who are appointees of the holding company.

  Company No. 198201008499 (88222-D)

76



24. RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES (continued)

Company
2020 2019In RM'000

Federal and State Government of Malaysia:
Sales of petroleum products  228,355  306,428 
Government of Malaysia's related entities:
Sales of petroleum products  1,713,095  5,043,219 
Holding company:
Sales of petroleum products  406  698 
Facility charges  (22,365)  (21,313) 
Reimbursement of key management personnel costs and benefits  (1,352)  (1,520) 
Interest income from PETRONAS IFSSC  65,596  113,133 
Fees for representation in the Board of Directors*  (659)  (502) 
Information, communication and technology charges  (47,598)  (39,939) 
Related companies:
Sales of petroleum products  716,344  1,269,794 
Purchases of petroleum products  (14,075,161)  (26,637,025) 
Information, communication and technology charges  (75,083)  (19,375) 
Lease expenses  (91,514)  (110,818) 

*  Fees paid directly to holding company in respect of directors who are appointees of the holding company.

Information regarding outstanding balances arising from related party transactions as at 31 December 2020 
are disclosed in Note 8 and Note 17. The Directors of the Company are of the opinion that the above 
transactions have been entered into in the normal course of business and have been established on a 
commercial basis.

25. COMMITMENTS

Outstanding commitments in respect of capital expenditure at the end of the reporting year not provided for 
in the financial statements are:

Group Company
In RM'000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Property, plant and equipment
Approved and contracted for  81,140  34,209  80,407  34,209 
Approved but not contracted for  207,648  215,258  186,923  178,450 

 288,788  249,467  267,330  212,659 
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26. OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group’s reportable segments comprise of Retail, Commercial and Others. Each reportable segment 
offers different products and services and require different marketing strategies. The following summary 
describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segment:

• Retail           -  consist of sales and purchases of petroleum products to the retail sector
• Commercial -  consist of sales and purchases of petroleum products to the commercial sector
• Others          -  comprise mainly of aviation fuelling services, technical services and business activities  

                     other than retail and commercial segments.

For each of the reportable segment, the Group chief operating decision maker, which is the Board of 
Directors of the Company, reviews internal management reports at least on a quarterly basis.

Performance is measured based on segment profit or loss before tax as included in the internal management 
reports that are reviewed by the Company’s Board of Directors. Segment profit is used to measure 
performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of 
certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.

Revenues derived from petroleum products are predominantly sold to the retail and commercial sectors in 
Malaysia which have been disclosed in the operating segment. In this respect, no further disaggregation of 
revenue is presented.

 
Group 
2020

Retail Commercial Others TotalBusiness Segments
In RM'000
Revenue  11,178,291  7,521,095  11,561  18,710,947 
Depreciation and amortisation  374,049  88,040  35,750  497,839 
Other income  308,742  51,568  3,481  363,791 
Operating profit/(loss)  229,451  225,046  (51,963)  402,534 
Financing costs  (6,852)  (2,106)  (7,077)  (16,035) 
Share of loss after tax of associates and joint 

ventures  (78) 
Profit before taxation  386,421 

2019
Retail Commercial Others TotalBusiness Segments

In RM'000
Revenue  15,369,819  14,897,138  26,614  30,293,571 
Depreciation and amortisation  347,529  94,659  29,269  471,457 
Other income  387,638  47,386  4,503  439,527 
Operating profit  581,894  556,419  8,482  1,146,795 
Financing costs  (9,354)  (4,490)  (7,968)  (21,812) 
Share of profit after tax of associates and joint 

ventures  3,889 
Profit before taxation  1,128,872 
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26. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Geographical information

There is no disclosure on geographical segment information as the Group’s operations outside of Malaysia 
are not material during the year under review.

Major customers

As at 31 December 2020, there are no major customers with revenue that contribute to more than 10 percent 
of the Group’s revenue.

27. CONTINGENCIES

Group
In RM'000 2020 2019

Contingent assets
An award in favour of a subsidiary was issued by the arbitrator in 2018 
following an arbitration proceeding, which allowed additional costs and 
expenses for restructuring works at one of the subsidiary’s major facility. 
The quantum to be paid following the award as of the financial period date is 
pending settlement negotiation between the parties.  26,662  26,662 

There were no material contingent liabilities since the last consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2019.
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 28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as Amortised cost (“AC”).

Group 
2020 Note Amortised 

cost

Total 
carrying 
amountIn RM'000

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables* 8  1,148,153  1,148,153 
Cash and cash equivalents 10  2,691,820  2,691,820 

 3,839,973  3,839,973 

Financial liabilities
Borrowings 14  (19,380)  (19,380) 
Trade and other payables* 17  (2,251,453)  (2,251,453) 

 (2,270,833)  (2,270,833) 

2019
Amortised 

cost

Total 
carrying 
amount

In RM'000
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables* 8  1,507,863  1,507,863 
Fund investment 9  51,004  51,004 
Cash and cash equivalents 10  3,425,500  3,425,500 

 4,984,367  4,984,367 

Financial liabilities
Borrowings 14  (35,222)  (35,222) 
Trade and other payables* 17  (3,349,770)  (3,349,770) 

 (3,384,992)  (3,384,992) 

*    These balances exclude non-financial instruments balances.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Categories of financial instruments (continued)

Company 
2020 Note Amortised 

cost

Total 
carrying 
amountIn RM'000

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables* 8  1,040,758  1,040,758 
Cash and cash equivalents 10  2,311,097  2,311,097 

 3,351,855  3,351,855 

Financial liability
Trade and other payables* 17  (2,062,308)  (2,062,308) 

2019
Amortised 

cost

Total 
carrying 
amount

In RM'000
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables* 8  1,325,917  1,325,917 
Cash and cash equivalents 10  3,146,732  3,146,732 

 4,472,649  4,472,649 

Financial liability
Trade and other payables* 17  (3,154,959)  (3,154,959) 

*    These balances exclude non-financial instruments balances.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Categories of financial instruments (continued)

Financial risk management 

The Group and the Company are exposed to various risks that are particular to its core business which 
consists of domestic marketing of petroleum products. These risks, which arise in the normal course of the 
Group’s and the Company’s business, comprise credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk relating to interest 
rates and foreign currency exchange rates.

The Group has policies and guidelines in place that sets the foundation for a consistent approach towards 
establishing an effective financial risk management across the Group.

Risk taking activities are undertaken within acceptable level of risk or risk appetite, whereby the risk 
appetite level reflects business considerations and capacity to assume such risks. The risk appetite is 
established at Board level, where relevant, based on defined methodology and translated into operational 
thresholds.

The Group’s and the Company’s goal in risk management are to ensure that the management understands, 
measures and monitors the various risks that arise in connection with their operations. Policies and 
guidelines have been developed to identify, analyse, appraise and monitor the dynamic risks facing the 
Group and the Company. Based on this assessment, the Group and the Company adopt appropriate 
measures to mitigate these risks in accordance with their view of the balance between risk and reward.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of potential exposure of the Group and of the Company to losses in the event of non-
performance by counterparties. The Group’s and the Company’s exposures to credit risk arise principally 
from customers and placement in financial institutions. Credit risks are controlled by individual companies 
in line with PETRONAS’ policies and guidelines.

Trade and other receivables

Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

The Group and the Company minimise credit risk by ensuring that all potential third party counterparties are 
assessed prior to registration and entering into new contracts. Existing third party counterparties are also 
subject to regular reviews, including re-appraisal and approval of granted limits. The creditworthiness of 
counterparties is assessed based on an analysis of all available quantitative and qualitative data regarding 
business risks and financial standing, together with the review of any relevant third party and market 
information. Reports are prepared and presented to the management that cover the Group’s overall credit 
exposure against limits and securities, exposure by segment and overall quality of the portfolio.

Depending on the types of transactions and counterparty creditworthiness, the Group and the Company 
further mitigate and limit risks related to credit by requiring collateral or other credit enhancements such as 
cash deposits, letter of credit, Amanah Saham Bumiputera (“ASB”), Amanah Saham Bumiputera 2      
(“ASB 2”), Amanah Saham Malaysia 2 Wawasan (“ASM 2 Wawasan”) and bank guarantees.

The Group uses ageing analysis to monitor the credit quality of the receivables. As at the year end, 94% 
(2019: 94%) of gross trade receivables of the Group are within the credit terms.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade and other receivables (continued)

Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk (continued)

Management has taken reasonable steps to ensure that receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are 
stated at their realisable values. A significant portion of these receivables are regular customers that have 
been transacting with the Group and the Company.

At each reporting date, the Group and the Company assess whether any of the trade receivables are credit 
impaired.

The gross carrying amounts of credit impaired trade receivables and contract assets are written off (either 
partially or full) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group or 
the Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate 
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. Nevertheless, trade receivables and 
contract assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities.

Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral

As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are 
represented by the carrying amounts in the statement of financial position.

At each reporting date, the Group and the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised 
cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
– significant financial difficulty of the customer;
– a breach of contract such as a default; or
– it is probable that the customer will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Concentration of credit risk

On reporting date, there is a significant concentration of credit risk of the Group arising from an amount 
owing from a customer constituting 11% (2019: 13%) of the total trade receivables of the Group.

In addition, there is a significant concentration of credit risk of the Group being an amount owing from the 
Government constituting 75% (2019: 70%) of the total other receivables of the Group relating to subsidies 
arising from the Automatic Pricing Mechanism governing the sales of petroleum products.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade and other receivables (continued)

Recognition and measurement of impairment loss

In managing credit risk of trade receivables, the Group monitors its debtors and takes appropriate actions 
(including but not limited to legal actions) to recover long overdue balances. 

The Group and the Company perform credit rating assessment of all its counterparties in order to measure 
Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) of trade receivables for all segments using the PETRONAS Credit Risk 
Rating system. This credit rating assessment considers quantitative assessment using the counterparties’ 
financial statements or a qualitative assessment of the counterparties which includes but is not limited to 
their reputation, competitive position, industry and geopolitical outlook. 

In determining the ECL, the probability of default assigned to each counterparty is based on their individual 
credit rating. This probability of default is derived by benchmarking against available third party and market 
information, which also incorporates forward looking information.

Loss given default is the assumption of the proportion of financial asset that cannot be recovered by 
conversion of collateral to cash or by legal process, and is assessed based on the Group’s and the 
Company’s historical experience.

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as 
at 31 December 2020 which are grouped together as they are expected to have similar risk nature.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade and other receivables (continued)

Recognition and measurement of impairment loss (continued)

Group 
2020

Note

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance Net balanceIn RM'000

Credit Risk Rating
Sovereign rating  12,811  —  12,811 
Excellent rating  231,099  (46)  231,053 
Good rating  448,513  (541)  447,972 
Fair rating  267,293  (4,241)  263,052 

 959,716  (4,828)  954,888 
Credit impaired:
Individually impaired  7,408  (7,408)  — 

 967,124  (12,236)  954,888 

Representing:
Trade receivables 8  967,124  (12,236)  954,888 

Group 
2019

Note

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance Net balanceIn RM'000

Credit Risk Rating
Sovereign rating  44,654  —  44,654 
Excellent rating  508,070  (295)  507,775 
Good rating  541,572  (679)  540,893 
Fair rating  256,274  (1,056)  255,218 

 1,350,570  (2,030)  1,348,540 
Credit impaired:
Individually impaired  10,789  (8,439)  2,350 

 1,361,359  (10,469)  1,350,890 

Representing:
Trade receivables 8  1,361,359  (10,469)  1,350,890 
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade and other receivables (continued)

Recognition and measurement of impairment loss (continued)

Company 
2020

Note

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance Net balanceIn RM'000

Credit Risk Rating
Sovereign rating  12,811  —  12,811 
Excellent rating  150,128  (41)  150,087 
Good rating  423,321  (340)  422,981 
Fair rating  267,293  (4,241)  263,052 

 853,553  (4,622)  848,931 
Credit impaired:
Individually impaired  1,806  (1,806)  — 

 855,359  (6,428)  848,931 

Representing:
Trade receivables 8  855,359  (6,428)  848,931 

Company 
2019

Note

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance Net balanceIn RM'000

Credit Risk Rating
Sovereign rating  44,652  —  44,652 
Excellent rating  417,142  (165)  416,977 
Good rating  458,641  (367)  458,274 
Fair rating  256,244  (1,055)  255,189 

 1,176,679  (1,587)  1,175,092 
Credit impaired:
Individually impaired  3,767  (1,734)  2,033 

 1,180,446  (3,321)  1,177,125 

Representing:
Trade receivables 8  1,180,446  (3,321)  1,177,125 
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade and other receivables (continued)

Recognition and measurement of impairment loss (continued)

As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from receivables is equal 
to the carrying amount. The ageing of trade receivables net of impairment amount as at the end of the 
reporting period is analysed below: 

Group Company
In RM'000 2020 2019 2020 2019
At net
Current  912,436  1,281,254  823,974  1,162,690 
Past due 1 to 30 days  20,963  26,831  16,531  6,765 
Past due 31 to 60 days  5,181  12,389  2,277  4,359 
Past due 61 to 90 days  1,683  10,840  519  1,278 
Past due more than 90 days  14,625  19,576  5,630  2,033 

 954,888  1,350,890  848,931  1,177,125 

Representing:
Trade receivables (Note 8)  967,124  1,361,359  855,359  1,180,446 
Less: Impairment losses (Note 8)  (12,236)  (10,469)  (6,428)  (3,321) 

 954,888  1,350,890  848,931  1,177,125 

There are trade receivables where the Group has not recognised any loss allowance as the trade receivables 
are secured by collateral and/or other credit enhancements such as cash deposits, letter of credit, ASB,     
ASB 2, ASM 2 Wawasan and bank guarantees.  

Trade receivables which are credit impaired amounting to RM12,236,000 (2019: RM10,469,000) are 
partially collateralised in the form of financial guarantee by banks. Impairment loss has been provided in 
excess of the collateral value of the financial guarantee of RM163,024,000 (2019: RM159,355,000).
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade and other receivables (continued)

Recognition and measurement of impairment loss (continued)

The movements in the allowance for impairment losses of trade receivables during the year are as follows:  

Group Company
In RM'000 2020 2019 2020 2019
Opening balance  10,469  10,645  3,321  3,292 
Impairment loss recognised  10,532  1,038  7,077  822 
Impairment loss reversed  (4,384)  (1,082)  (3,927)  (743) 
Impairment loss written off  (4,381)  (132)  (43)  (50) 
Closing balance  12,236  10,469  6,428  3,321 

Fund investments

The Group and the Company are also exposed to counterparty credit risk from financial institutions through 
fund investment activities which was managed by IFSSC on behalf of the Group comprising primarily 
money market placement. These exposures are managed in accordance with existing policies and guidelines 
that define the parameters within which the investment activities shall be undertaken in order to achieve the 
Group’s investment objective of preserving capital and generating optimal returns above appropriate 
benchmarks within allowable risk parameters.

Investments are only made with approved counterparties who met the appropriate rating and other relevant 
criteria, and within approved credit limits, as stipulated in the policies and guidelines. The treasury function 
is governed by a counterparty credit risk management framework.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amounts in the statement of financial 
position.

As at the reporting date, the Group and the Company have only invested in short term domestic money 
market instrument. In view of the sound credit rating of counterparties, the Group and the Company do not 
expect any counterparties to fail to meet its obligation and hence, loss allowance is not provided for.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 
they fall due. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises principally from its trade and 
other payables and borrowings. In managing its liquidity risk, the Group and the Company maintains 
sufficient cash and liquid marketable assets and a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility 
through use of stand-by credit facilities. The Company’s current credit rating enables it to access banking 
facilities in excess of current and immediate future requirements of the Group and the Company.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Maturity analysis

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and of the Company’s financial liabilities as 
at the reporting date based on undiscounted contractual payments:     

Group 
2020 Carrying 

amount

Effective 
profit 

margin/
interest 

rates/per 
annum/

discount 
rate %

Contractual 
cash flows

Within 1 
yearIn RM'000

Financial liabilities
Unsecured Islamic financing facilities

floating rate  9,880 2.78 - 4.32  9,988  9,988 
Unsecured revolving credits

fixed rate  9,500 2.80 - 2.89  9,775  9,775 
Lease liabilities  158,790 3.68 - 8.43  301,602  82,757 
Trade and other payables  2,251,453 —  2,251,453  2,251,453 

 2,429,623  2,572,818  2,353,973 
                                                                                                                                                    continue below

Group 
2020

1-2 years 2-5 years
More than 5 

yearsIn RM'000
Financial liabilities
Unsecured Islamic financing facilities

floating rate  —  —  — 
Unsecured revolving credits

fixed rate  —  —  — 
Lease liabilities  18,682  33,131  167,032 
Trade and other payables  —  —  — 

 18,682  33,131  167,032 
                                                                                                                                         continued from above

  Company No. 198201008499 (88222-D)

89



 28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Maturity analysis (continued)

Group 
2019 Carrying 

amount

Effective 
profit 

margin/
interest 

rates/per 
annum/

discount 
rate %

Contractual 
cash flows

Within 1 
yearIn RM'000

Financial liabilities
Unsecured Islamic financing facilities
floating rate  29,756 4.27 - 4.68  30,888  20,762 

Unsecured revolving credit
fixed rate  5,466 2.90  5,506  5,506 

Lease liabilities  298,933 4.19 - 8.43  446,198  155,359 
Trade and other payables  3,349,770 —  3,349,770  3,349,770 

 3,683,925  3,832,362  3,531,397 
                                                                                                                                                       continue below

Group 
2019

1-2 years 2-5 years
More than 5 

yearsIn RM'000
Financial liabilities
Unsecured Islamic financing facilities
floating rate  10,126  —  — 

Unsecured revolving credit
fixed rate  —  —  — 

Lease liabilities  72,203  43,394  175,242 
Trade and other payables  —  —  — 

 82,329  43,394  175,242 
                                                                                                                                         continued from above
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Maturity analysis (continued)

Company 
2020 Carrying 

amount
Discount rate 

%
Contractual 

cash flows
Within 1 

yearIn RM'000
Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities  82,019 3.68 - 7.80  108,249  74,514 
Trade and other payables  2,062,308 —  2,062,308  2,062,308 

 2,144,327  2,170,557  2,136,822 
 continue below

Company 
2020

1-2 years 2-5 years
More than 5 

yearsIn RM'000
Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities  11,126  5,973  16,636 
Trade and other payables  —  —  — 

 11,126  5,973  16,636 
                                                                                                                                          continued from above

Company 
2019 Carrying 

amount
Discount rate 

%
Contractual 

cash flows
Within 1 

yearIn RM'000
Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities  220,697 4.19 - 7.80  244,354  147,015 
Trade and other payables  3,154,959 —  3,154,959  3,154,959 

 3,375,656  3,399,313  3,301,974 
                                                                                                                                                     continue below

Company 
2019

1-2 years 2-5 years
More than 5 

yearsIn RM'000
Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities  63,909  15,254  18,176 
Trade and other payables  —  —  — 

 63,909  15,254  18,176 
                                                                                                                                            continued from above
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk or uncertainty arising from change in market prices and their impact on the 
performance of the business. The market price changes that the Group and the Company are exposed to 
include interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates that could affect the value of the Group’s and the 
Company’s financial assets, liabilities or expected future cash flows.

Profit margin or Interest rate risk

Profit margin or interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market rates.

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in cash flow due to changes in profit margin or interest rates 
relates primarily to the Islamic financing facilities of a subsidiary with floating profit margin. Short term 
receivables and payables are not significantly exposed to interest rate risk.

The Group’s remaining interest-bearing financial assets and financial liabilities, which consist mainly of 
fixed rate short term fund placement and short term revolving credit facilities do not have significant 
exposure to interest rate risk.

All profit or interest rate exposures are monitored and managed proactively in line with PETRONAS’ 
policies and guidelines. 

As at 31 December 2020, 6% (2019: 9%) of the interest-bearing financial liabilities of the Group are 
floating rate instruments.

Profit margin risk sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2020, it is estimated that a change of 100 basis points in profit margin of the Islamic 
financing facilities with all other variables held constant, is not expected to have any significant impact to 
the Group’s cash flows.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group and the Company are exposed to varying levels of foreign exchange risk when they enter into 
transactions that are not denominated in the respective companies’ functional currencies and when foreign 
currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the reporting date. The main underlying economic 
currencies of the Group’s cash flows are Ringgit Malaysia and US Dollars. The Company’s funds are 
managed by IFSSC whereby foreign currency exposure is typically managed by matching receipts and 
payment for the same currency and internally hedged with IFSSC. When deemed necessary and appropriate, 
the Company, via IFSSC will enter into external hedging to minimise its exposure to the foreign currency 
movements.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The Group’s and the Company’s significant exposure to foreign currency risk, based on carrying amounts as 
at the reporting date is as follows:

Group
2020 2019In RM'000

Denominated in USD
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  680  — 
Trade and other receivables  34,703  147,372 

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables  (13,370)  (13,425) 
Lease liabilities  (54,366)  (101,672) 

Net exposure  (32,353)  32,275 

Company
2020 2019In RM'000

Denominated in USD
Financial asset
Trade and other receivables  34,468  147,315 

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables  (12,583)  (13,425) 
Lease liabilities  (54,366)  (101,672) 

Net exposure  (32,481)  32,218 

Sensitivity analysis for a given market variable provided in this note, discloses the effect on profit or loss 
and equity as at 31 December 2020 assuming that a reasonably possible change in the relevant market 
variable had occurred at 31 December 2020 and been applied to the risk exposures in existence at that date 
to show the effects of reasonably possible changes in price on profit or loss and equity to the next annual 
reporting date. Reasonably possible changes in market variables used in the sensitivity analysis are based on 
implied volatilities, where available, or historical data for equity and commodity prices and foreign 
exchange rates. Reasonably possible changes in interest rates are based on management judgment and 
historical experience.

The sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and should not be considered to be predictive of future performance 
because the Group’s actual exposure to market prices is constantly changing with changes in the Group’s 
portfolio of among others, commodity, debt and foreign currency contracts. Changes in fair values or cash 
flows based on a variation in a market variable cannot be extrapolated because the relationship between the 
change in market variable and the change in fair value or cash flows may not be linear. In addition, the 
effect of a change in a given market variable is calculated independently of any change  in another 
assumption and mitigating actions that would be taken by the Group. In reality, changes in one factor may 
contribute to changes in another, which may magnify or counteract the sensitivities.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the indicative pre-tax effects on the profit or loss and equity of applying 
reasonably foreseeable market movements in the following currency exchange rates:

Group Company

2020
Appreciation in

foreign
currency rate

%
Effect on

Profit or loss
Effect on

Profit or lossIn RM'000

USD 10  (3,235)  (3,248) 

2019
In RM'000

USD 10  3,227  3,222 

A depreciation in USD would have had equal but opposite effect, on the basis that all other variables remain 
constant.

Fair value information

The Group’s financial instruments consist of borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, fund investments, trade 
and other receivables and trade and other payables.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short term fund investments, receivables and payables 
and short term borrowings reasonably approximate their fair values due to the relatively short term nature of 
these financial instruments.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value information (continued)

The following table analyses financial instruments not carried at fair value for which fair value is disclosed, 
together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial position.

Group
2020

Fair value of financial 
instruments not carried at 

fair value

In RM'000 Level 3 Total
Carrying 

amount
Financial liabilities
Islamic financing facilities  9,713  9,713  9,880 
Revolving credits  9,500  9,500  9,500 

 19,213  19,213  19,380 

Group
2019

Fair value of financial 
instruments not carried at 

fair value

In RM'000 Level 3 Total
Carrying 

amount
Financial liabilities
Islamic financing facilities  29,208  29,208  29,756 
Revolving credit  5,466  5,466  5,466 

 34,674  34,674  35,222 

Non-derivative financial instruments

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future 
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the end of the reporting period.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Gains and losses arising from financial instruments

Group 
2020 Interest 

income
Interest 
expense

(Impairment
loss)/

reversal Others TotalIn RM'000
Financial assets at amortised 

cost  71,270  —  (5,530)  4,635  70,375 
Financial liabilities at amortised 

cost  —  (14,875)  —  (3,408)  (18,283) 
Total  71,270  (14,875)  (5,530)  1,227  52,092 

Group 
2019 Interest 

income
Interest 
expense

Reversal/
(impairment 

loss) Others TotalIn RM'000
Financial assets at amortised 

cost  121,997  —  478  3,777  126,252 
Financial liabilities at amortised 

cost  —  (20,878)  —  (785)  (21,663) 
Total  121,997  (20,878)  478  2,992  104,589 

Company 
2020 Interest 

income
Interest 
expense

(Impairment
loss)/

 reversal Others TotalIn RM'000
Financial assets at amortised 

cost  66,009  —  (2,532)  4,726  68,203 
Financial liabilities at amortised 

cost  —  (7,538)  —  (3,408)  (10,946) 
Total  66,009  (7,538)  (2,532)  1,318  57,257 

Company 
2019 Interest 

income
Interest 
expense

Reversal/ 
(impairment 

loss) Others TotalIn RM'000
Financial assets at amortised 

cost  113,133  —  355  3,776  117,264 
Financial liabilities at amortised 

cost  —  (12,496)  —  (707)  (13,203) 
Total  113,133  (12,496)  355  3,069  104,061 

Others relate to gains and losses arising from financial instruments other than interest income, interest 
expense and impairment loss such as realised and unrealised foreign exchange gains or losses.
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29. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group defines capital as total equity and debt. The objective of the Group’s capital management is to 
maintain an optimal capital structure and ensure availability of funds to support its business and maximise 
shareholders’ value. As a subsidiary of PETRONAS, the Group’s approach in managing capital is set out in 
the PETRONAS Financial Policy (formerly known as Group Corporate Financial Policy).

The Group monitors and maintains a prudent level of total debt to total asset ratio to optimise shareholders’ 
value and to ensure compliance with covenants under debt and shareholders’ agreements and regulatory 
requirements, if any.

The debt to equity ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2020 is 3.1:100 (2019: 5.6:100).

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

Under the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Practice Note No.17/2005, the Company is required to maintain 
consolidated shareholders’ equity equal to or not less than 25% of the issued and paid-up capital (excluding 
treasury shares) and such shareholders’ equity is not less than RM40 million. The Group has complied with 
this requirement.

30. HOLDING AND ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The holding company as well as ultimate holding company is Petroliam Nasional Berhad (“PETRONAS”), 
a company incorporated in Malaysia.
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31. SUBSIDIARIES AND ACTIVITIES

Effective ownership 
interest and voting 

interest Principal Activities
2020 2019

Company incorporated in 
Malaysia

Kuala Lumpur Aviation Fuelling 
System Sdn. Bhd.

65% 65% To develop, operate, maintain and 
manage an aviation fuelling system at 
Kuala Lumpur International Airport 
and Kuala Lumpur International 
Airport 2, Sepang. 

PETRONAS Lubricants 
Marketing (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

100% 100% To market and distribute lubricants.

PETRONAS Aviation Sdn. Bhd. 100% 100% To provide technical consultancy 
services.

SETEL Ventures Sdn. Bhd. 100% 100% To provide a seamless payment solution.

Company incorporated in 
Netherlands

**PDB (Netherlands) B.V. 100% 100% Investment holding company.

Company incorporated in 
Thailand

*PETRONAS International 
Marketing (Thailand) Co., Ltd.1

100% 100% To market and distribute lubricants.

* Audited by firm of auditors other than KPMG PLT.
** Consolidated based on management accounts as the company is exempted from preparing audited 

financial statements as allowed by Articles 396 Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
1 Directly owned by PDB (Netherlands) B.V.
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32. ASSOCIATES AND ACTIVITIES

Effective ownership 
interest and voting 

interest Principal Activities
2020 2019

Companies incorporated in 
Malaysia

*IOT Management Sdn. Bhd. 20% 20% To operate and manage a petroleum 
storage terminal with facilities for 
receipt, storage and delivery of 
petroleum products at Senari, 
Kuching, Sarawak for the users, 
PETRONAS Dagangan Berhad and 
Shell Timur Sdn. Bhd.

*Tanjung Manis Oil Terminal 
Management Sdn. Bhd.

20% 20% To operate and manage a petroleum 
storage terminal with facilities for 
receipt, storage and delivery of 
petroleum products located at Bandar 
Baru Tanjung Manis, Mukah, 
Sarawak for the users, PETRONAS 
Dagangan Berhad and Shell Timur 
Sdn. Bhd.

*  Audited by firm of auditors other than KPMG PLT.
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33. JOINT VENTURES AND ACTIVITIES

Effective ownership 
interest and voting 

interest Principal Activities
2020 2019

Companies incorporated in 
Malaysia

P S Pipeline Sendirian Berhad 50% 50% To maintain and operate the Multi-
Product Pipeline and Klang Valley 
Distribution Terminal (MPP-KVDT) 
and the associated facilities for the 
transportation of the petroleum 
products on behalf of the MPP- 
KVDT users.

P S Terminal Sendirian Berhad 50% 50% To operate, manage and maintain the 
joint facilities – terminal, depot, 
warehouse etc. in Tawau and Bintulu 
on behalf of the owners, PETRONAS 
Dagangan Berhad and Shell Timur 
Sdn. Bhd.

Company incorporated in 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

*United Fuel Company Limited 
(Limited Liability Company)2 

40% 40% To provide support, maintenance and 
operation services for airport facilities 
and gas fuel, storage equipment and 
fuel supply to aircrafts in the airports 
of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

*  Audited by firm of auditors other than KPMG PLT.
2   Interest owned by PETRONAS Aviation Sdn. Bhd.
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34. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED PRONOUNCEMENTS

As of 1 January 2020 the Group and the Company adopted the following pronouncements that have been 
issued by the MASB and are applicable as listed below:

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Amendments to MFRS 3 Business Combinations (Definition of a Business)
Amendments to MFRS 9 Financial Instruments, MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement and MFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
Amendment to MFRS 16 Leases (COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions)
Amendments to MFRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (Definition of Material)
Amendments to MFRS 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors (Definition 

of Material)

The Group and the Company have early adopted the Amendment to MFRS 16 Leases (COVID-19 Related 
Rent Concessions) issued by MASB in June 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The amendment 
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

The initial application of the above-mentioned pronouncements did not have any material impact to the 
financial statements of the Group and the Company. 

35. PRONOUNCEMENTS YET IN EFFECT

The following pronouncements that have been issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board will 
become effective in future financial reporting periods and have not been adopted by the Group and the 
Company in these financial statements:

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
Amendments to MFRS 9 Financial Instruments
Amendments to MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
Amendments to MFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
Amendments to MFRS 16 Leases (Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Amendments to MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018−2020) 
Amendments to Illustrative Examples accompanying MFRS 16 Leases (Annual Improvements to MFRS 

Standards 2018−2020) 
Amendments to MFRS 3 Business Combinations (Reference to the Conceptual Framework)
Amendments to MFRS 116 Property, Plant and Equipment (Property, Plant and Equipment−Proceeds 

before Intended Use)
Amendments to MFRS 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (Onerous 

Contracts−Cost of Fulfilling a Contract)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
Amendments to MFRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (Classification of Liabilities as Current or 

Non-current)

Effective for a date yet to be confirmed
Amendments to MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
Amendments to MFRS 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Sale or Contribution of Assets 

between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
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35. PRONOUNCEMENTS YET IN EFFECT (continued)

The Group and the Company are expected to apply the above-mentioned pronouncements beginning from 
the respective dates the pronouncements become effective. The initial application of the above-mentioned 
pronouncements are not expected to have any material impacts to the financial statements of the Group and 
the Company.

36. NEW PRONOUNCEMENTS NOT APPLICABLE TO THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

The MASB has issued pronouncements which is not relevant to the Group and the Company and hence, no 
further disclosure is warranted.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Amendments to MFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (Annual 

Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018−2020)
Amendments to MFRS 141 Agriculture (Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018−2020)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
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